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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the board (the “Board”) of the directors (the
“Directors”) of ZZ Capital International Limited 518 &N BIBS 5 R 2 &)
(the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.

Should there be any discrepancy between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail.
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ZZ Capital International Limited # & A B B AR 2 7 (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) (Stock Code: 08295) is an investments and corporate
investment advisory services firm with its headquarter based in
Hong Kong.

The Company, formerly known as Asian Capital Holdings Limited
("ACHL"), was established in 2010 and is listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Following the acquisition of ACHL by FRiE & A & I8 A [R A 7
(Zhongzhi Capital Management Company Limited*) (“Zhongzhi
Capital”) in 2016, ACHL changed its name to ZZ Capital
International Limited 1B EARBIFRFR A R].

The Group's principal operating subsidiary, ZZCl Corporate Finance
Limited (“ZZCF"), is licensed with the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC"”) for carrying on type 1 (dealing
in securities), type 4 (advising on securities), type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities. It provides a diversified range of corporate advisory and
assets management services.

In furtherance of the Group's business, a subsidiary of ZZCF, /&3]
RIS RERERESEE AR A (Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management Limited*) has been established in 2016,
which has been approved by Shenzhen Municipal Government
Financial Services Office as a Qualified Foreign Limited Partnership.

Moreover, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, ZZCl
Credit Limited, holds a money lenders licence, where the Group
can complement its financial services capabilities by providing
finance against marketable securities.

Further information about the Group, including its controlling

shareholder Zhongzhi Capital, is available on the Company’'s
website at www.zzcapitalinternational.com.

*  For identification purpose only
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the 2018/19 annual report of ZZ Capital
International Limited 118 & 78 BIFE A R A 7] (the “Company”),
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2019 (the “Year").

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Year marked the third year of operation for the Company
after 1 & A & I A R A & Zhongzhi Capital Management
Company Limited* (“Zhongzhi Capital”) took majority control of
the Company in 2016. The Group has made great efforts to adjust
its overseas strategy and refocus its business scope, and has made
a positive progress during the Year rather than focusing on its
global strategy to expand its international investment during the
past two years.

Influenced by the foreign exchange policy and macro investment
environment of the government of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC Government”), the Group actively carried out strategic
adjustments, focusing on project divestiture, team restructuring
and cost reduction. The Company issued an announcement on 23
May 2018 (capitalized terms used herein shall have the same
meaning as those defined in this announcement), (A) (i) the parties
to the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement in relation to the
acquisition of the entire issued and outstanding unit interest in
GKD Index Partners, LLC (conducting its business under the name
“Alerian”) agreed to terminate the Alerian Unit Purchase
Agreement and (ii) the Company entered into the Ancillary
Transactions (including the Loan Commitment Agreement and the
Omnibus Agreement) with Aretex Capital; and (B) Aretex Alerian
Purchaser entered into an agreement with the Sellers to acquire
the equity interests of Alerian which, among other things,
facilitates the release to the Buyer of the Termination Fee that was
deposited by the Buyer in the Termination Fee Escrow Account
pursuant to the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement. Upon the
termination of Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement, the deposit of
US$25.00 million (net of legal and professional fees paid) has
been released and returned to the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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On 10 August 2018, the Company announced that it entered into
a termination agreement with African Emerald and Zhongzhi
Capital (Hong Kong) for the termination of the Term Sheet
entered into between the Company and Africa Emerald and
Zhongzhi Capital (Hong Kong) on 12 July 2017 with immediate
effect and the Parties shall be released and discharged from all
claims and demand thereunder (capitalized terms used above shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the announcement
of the Company dated 12 July 2017).

Meanwhile, there occurred some changes in the management of
the Company accordingly. In November 2018, Mr. CHEN lJianfeng
Peter resigned from the Company’s executive director and Chief
Financial Officer; and Mr. WU Hui was appointed as the Chief
Operating Officer of the Group simultaneously, who is dedicated
to the cost control and internal operation management of the
Group. Mr. FU Chi King Johnson was appointed as the Company’s
non-executive Director in March 2019. This further improved the
governance structure of the Company.

On 15 December 2018, the Company announced that it was
involved in an external debt business concerning lending the
amount of HK$95.00 million to China Tianrui Group Cement
Company Limited. The principal amount of the loan with interest
in the sum of HK$96.90 million was successfully repaid on 15
March 2019.

We had four new institutional clients during the Year. The Group
provided such clients corporate advisory services leveraging on its
professional capabilities and received a revenue on corporate
advisory services of HK$1.63 million. The Group will continue to
seek high-quality customers and provide professional services in
investment advisory, asset management, corporate advisory,
corporate financing and other fields.
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On 8 March 2019, the Company issued an announcement in
relation to a loan agreement entered into for the grant of a loan
facility of up to US$31.00 million to Geoswift Holding Limited (the
“Borrower”) by the indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. The principal amount of the loan with interest in the
sum of approximately US$34.10 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$267.69 million) has fallen due on 7 March
2019, but the Borrower was unable to repay the said amount on
the due date, which constituted a default in repayment of the
loan under such loan agreement. On 19 June 2019, the Group
received US$300,000 from the Borrower as partial repayment of
the loan. The Company will attempt to further negotiate with the
Borrower in relation to the repayment arrangement in respect of
the remaining balance of the loan and the interest accrued
thereon. Further announcement(s) will be made to follow up the
details as and when appropriate. The default in repayment of the
loan does not have significant impact on the daily operations of
the Group.

In order to enhance corporate governance and internal control,
the Company has engaged Corporate Governance Professionals
Limited (formerly known as Baker Tilly Hong Kong Risk Assurance
Limited) again as its internal auditor to evaluate, assess and
improve its internal control process and to ensure appropriate
policies and procedures are in place. The Company has further
improved various control measures on internal operation and
management based on the findings and recommendations from
the internal audit.

Under the Greater Bay Area plan, the business of the Group will
leverage on Hong Kong's geographical advantages and global
presence. It is the intention of the Company’s management to
optimize its resources and to develop business strategies oriented
from the perspective of China, and to diversify products and
services for achieving a sustainable growth.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results of the Group

For the Year, the Group’s revenue dropped to approximately
HK$3.94 million (2018: HK$246.45 million) as the investment
advisory and management agreement with Zhongzhi Capital had
expired on 31 March 2018. Interest income from lending business
of approximately HK$2.31 million was recognised for the Year
(2018: Nil).

There was a net investment loss on financial assets of
approximately HK$84.99 million for the Year (2018: net
investment income HK$6.28 million), mainly because of the fair
value loss on convertible loan receivable at fair value through
profit and loss (“FVTPL") of HK$81.42 million recognised during
the Year. Interest income from bank deposits increased to
approximately HK$9.01 million (2018: HK$1.02 million). Net
exchange loss of HK$8.90 million was recognised for the Year
(2018: gain of HK$2.32 million), mostly driven by the foreign
exchange revaluation of the Group’s Renminbi (“RMB") bank
balances.

Operating expenses during the Year was approximately
HK$186.90 million (2018: HK$229.24 million). The major
expenses components were staff cost of HK$79.25 million (2018:
HK$110.64 million), rental expenses of HK$37.60 million (2018:
HK$46.63 million) and professional fee of HK$50.26 million (2018:
HK$37.37 million). The decrease in operating expenses was mainly
attributable to significant reduction in staff cost and rental
expenses after the one-off redundancy and termination programs
in the US and UK offices of the Group.

The resultant pre-tax loss for the Year was approximately
HK$283.90 million, compared to a pre-tax profit of approximately
HK$26.82 million for the last financial year.

Income tax expense of approximately HK$0.81 million was
incurred during the Year (2018: HK$6.02 million)
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Accordingly, total comprehensive loss for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$285.23 million, compared to total
comprehensive income of HK$18.17 million recorded in the last
financial year. Basic losses per share for the Year was
approximately HK8.02 cents (2018: earnings of HK0.59 cent),
while diluted loss per share for the Year was the same as basic
losses per share of approximately HK8.02 cents (2018: earnings of
HKO0.59 cent).

The Group maintained non-current deposits of approximately
HK$2.34 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$207.58 million).
The significant decrease was mainly due to the deposit of HK$195
million being released and returned to the Group upon
termination of Alerian Unit Purchases Agreement. Plant and
equipment dropped to approximately HK$0.85 million
(2018: HK$10.03 million), which was mainly due to the disposal
of equipment for termination programs in the US and UK offices.
Loan receivables as at 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK$16.00 million (2018: Nil), as a result of a loan of US$2.00
million was granted during the Year as detailed in note 15.

As mentioned in Business review, the convertible loan receivable
at FVTPL was defaulted on 7 March 2019. The fair value of the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL decreased to approximately
HK$167.99 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$249.41
million). Trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 decreased to
approximately HK$0.05 million (2018: HK$233.07 million) because
trade receivables of HK$233.07 million as at 31 March 2018 have
been received in full during the Year.

Other payables and accruals as at 31 March 2019 decreased to
approximately HK$5.20 million (2018: HK$14.24 million),
consistent with the result of termination programs in the US and
UK offices.

Net assets value of the Group as at 31 March 2019 decreased to
approximately HK$705.18 million (2018: HK$990.41 million). The
net assets value per share as at 31 March 2019 was approximately
HK19.86 cents (2018: HK27.90 cents).

10
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
strategy and maintained a healthy liquidity position. As at 31
March 2019, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$685.99 million (2018: HK$508.70 million), and the current
ratio was approximately 71.71 (2018: 26.23).

The Group's operations and investments were financed principally
by revenues generated from business operations and available
bank balances. Funds are largely placed with financial institutions
with maturities timed to cover any known capital investments or
commitments. The Group had no borrowing and the gearing ratio
of the Group, calculated as total borrowings over total equity, was
nil as at 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

For foreign currency risk, the Group will continue to monitor its
foreign currency exposure and will consider using hedging
instruments if available in respect of significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital structure

There has been no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Year. The capital source of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$705.18 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$990.41 million). This decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the retained profits for the Year.

Commitments

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's operating lease commitment
dropped to HK$11.13 million as compared to HK$100.99 million
recorded in the last financial year as the lease agreements in US
and UK offices have been terminated during the Year. As at 31
March 2019, the establishment of a wholly-owned foreign equity
investment management enterprise (the “Qianhai Subsidiary”) in
Qianhai, Shenzhen for which there will be a capital contribution of
US$1.60 million (31 March 2018: US$1.60 million). Save for the
above, the Group and the Company did not have any significant
commitment as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (2018: Nil).

Employees and remuneration policies

As of 31 March 2019, the Group employed 23 employees
including Directors (31 March 2018: 31 employees). Total staff
cost (including Directors’ emoluments) for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$79.25 million. Employees’ remuneration
packages are decided based on their job responsibilities, local
market benchmarks and industry trends. Employee bonus is
distributable according to the performance of the respective
subsidiaries and employees concerned.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and
senior management of the Company with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Group.

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 7 June 2010
(the “Share Option Scheme”), details of which are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements. No option has
however been granted, exercised or lapsed under this Share
Option Scheme.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (2018: Nil).

Future plans for material investments or capital
assets

The Qianhai Subsidiary was set up in August 2016. The registered
capital required for setting up the Qianhai Subsidiary is US$2
million which will be financed by the Group’s internal resources.
Save as aforementioned, the Group has no plans for material
investments or acquisitions of capital assets, but will pursue
investment and lending opportunities to enhance its profitability in
the ordinary course of its business.
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Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies during the Year.

OUTLOOK

Due to the influence from the factors such as the continued global
trade tensions, an unexpected slowdown in the economy of the
Eurozone, the rising risks in some emerging economies, and the
growing tensions on financial environment in developed
economies, the International Monetary Fund has recently reduced
the economic growth rate for 2019 from 3.5% to 3.3%. On the
contrary, the economic growth rate in Mainland China was 6.6%
in 2018, and its GDP exceeded RMB9O0 trillion for the first time,
which was in line with the expected development target of 6.5%
set by the PRC Government at the beginning of last year. The
International Monetary Fund predicts that the economic growth
rate in Mainland China will be 6.3% in 2019. Although the
intensifying trade conflict between China and the United States of
America would bring uncertainties to global and Chinese
economic growth, the economic growth and expectations in
Mainland China are still far higher than the average global
economic growth.

Given the above situation, the Company will re-emphasize its
strategic Hong Kong location and connectivity with Mainland
China in order to achieve a diversification by across geographies,
sectors, and asset classes. In order to improve its state of
operation, the Company is endeavor to achieve a more integrated
Greater China strategy at a more balanced and steady pace. With
growing investment opportunities in the Greater Bay Area, the
Group will leverage on its local knowledge and expertise to drive
its business growth, and will achieve a synergistic business by
cooperating with domestic and overseas partners.
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APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all our team
members for their efforts and ethics, and contributing to the
growth of the Group. We would also like to thank our Board for
their trust, guidance and support to our strategy and execution
throughout the reporting period. With the concerted efforts from
all employees and the Board's support, we believe that we will be
able to make better achievements and achieve a greater
shareholder value in the coming year.

By Order of the Board

ZHANG Yun
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2019
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. DUAN Di, aged 32, joined the Group in May 2016 as the
chairman of the Board and an executive director of the Company.
She is the chairman of the nomination committee of the Board
(the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

Ms. Duan has, since 2011 worked in Zhongzhi Capital and now
serves as its executive director. As at the date of this annual
report, Zhongzhi Capital is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Ms. Duan obtained a bachelor of commerce degree in
finance and accounting in 2008 and a master of commerce
degree in finance and marketing in 2009 from the University of
Sydney, Australia respectively.

Ms. ZHANG Yun, aged 33, joined the Group in June 2016 as an
executive Director and was appointed as chief executive officer
and compliance officer of the Company in February and November
2018 respectively. She also holds several directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Zhang has worked in Zhongzhi Capital since 2012 and
appointed as its chief executive officer since 2015. She is also the
legal representative and director of ®/MFTEAEIREHR A A
(Changzhou Jingjiang Capital Management Company Limited*)
(“Changzhou lJingjiang”) and Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company
Limited (“Kang Bang") and an appointed representative of &/ &
HEBILERINEREE) ("HMEB"). Ms. Zhang is currently
the director of Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd (stock code: 000890, a
company whose shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange).
As at the date of this annual report, Kang Bang and &M 5z are
substantial shareholders of the Company, and Changzhou
Jingjiang and Zhongzhi Capital are controlling shareholders of the
Company. Ms. Zhang obtained a master of laws degree from the
City University of Hong Kong in 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. FU Chi King Johnson, aged 64, joined the Group in March
2019 as a non-executive director of the Company.

Mr. Fu was an independent non-executive director of Sunfonda
Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01771) from January 2014 to July 2017. Mr. Fu was
the chief executive officer of Kingold Group Companies Ltd in
Guangzhou, China from 2013 to 2014 and Kingold has
investments in real estate, hotels, resorts, media, education and IT.
He was also an independent non-executive director of China
Hanking Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 03788) from February 2011 to May 2015.
From 2011 to 2013, he had served as CEO China for Rabobank
Netherland. Mr. Fu had also served as a director and the chief
executive officer of ChemChina Finance Co., Ltd. (Bt TBf 7%
BBR7AF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Chinese state-owned
China National Chemical Corporation Ltd. (FE{t TEBEGR A
A]), where he was fully responsible for managing the cashflow
and investment of ChemChina Group. From 2005 to 2009, he
worked for Hang Seng Bank Limited, Hong Kong (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00011) and held the
position of an executive director and the chief executive officer of
its wholly owned subsidiary, Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited (1E
A 4817 (FE) BRR/AF]). Mr. Fu held various management
positions in a number of financial institutions and other
companies. Mr. Fu obtained a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Loyola University (BRI KZ) in New
Orleans, Louisiana in the United States in 1975 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the University of California,
Berkeley (MMM REMFH DKL) in Berkeley, California in the
United States in 1976.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, aged 65, joined the Group in June
2016 as an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (the “Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Markscheid is a venture partner at DealGlobe, a Shanghai
based boutique investment bank. He currently serves as a non-
executive director of ChinaCast Education Corporation and as an
independent director of Fanhua Inc., Jinko Solar Inc., and Ener-
Core Inc. ChinaCast Education Corporation and Ener-Core trade
Over-The-Counter and Fanhua Inc. is listed on The NASDAQ Stock
Market (“NASDAQ") while Jinko Solar Inc. is listed on The New
York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"”). Mr. Markscheid also served as
independent director of China Integrated Energy Corporation (a
company previously listed on NASDAQ) and China Ming Yang
Wind Power Group Limited (a company previously listed on NYSE).
He is also a trustee of Princeton-in-Asia. From 1998-2006, Mr.
Markscheid worked for GE Capital (“GE"). During his time with
GE, Mr. Markscheid led GE's business development activities in
China and Asia Pacific, primarily acquisitions and direct
investments. Prior to GE, Mr. Markscheid worked with the Boston
Consulting Group throughout Asia. He was a commercial banker
for ten years in London, Chicago, New York, Hong Kong and
Beijing with Chase Manhattan Bank and First National Bank of
Chicago and has years of professional experience in the financial
services industries. Mr. Markscheid obtained a bachelor of arts
degree from Princeton University in 1976, a master degree in
international affairs from Johns Hopkins University in 1980, and a
master of degree in business administration from Columbia
University in 1991, where he was class valedictorian.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Weidong, aged 54, joined the Group in July 2016 as
an independent non-executive director of the Company, the
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Zhang is currently the executive director of OP Financial
Investments Limited (Stock Code: 01140), a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and a partner of
Oriental Patron Financial Group primarily responsible for private
equity investments. Mr. Zhang has over 14 years of experience in
the operation and management of commercial banking, during
which he worked in the international business department of the
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC") with
final position level as deputy general manager of department,
including 3 years in ICBC Almaty Branch, where he was in charge
of treasury, credit lending and office operations. Moreover, Mr.
Zhang has 12 years of investment banking experience, served as
executive director of ICEA Finance Group (the investment banking
arm of ICBC) and managing director of Alpha Alliance Finance
Holdings, responsible for corporate finance and sales department
respectively. He is also an independent non-executive Director of
Tianjin Port Development Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 03382)
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Zhang holds a master degree from Renmin University in
Economics, a diploma of Programme for Management
Development of Harvard Business School and held a fellowship
from Columbia University in New York.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. ZHANG Longgen, aged 55, joined the Group in January
2018 as an independent non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and the member of
the Audit Committee.

Mr. Zhang is currently a director of JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd.
(stock code: JKS) and the chief executive director of Dago New
Energy Corp. (stock code: DQ), both are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (“NYSE"). Before that, from September 2008 to
September 2014, he was the chief financial officer and director of
JinkoSolar Holding Co., Ltd. From February 2006 to August 2008,
he worked in Xinyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. (stock code: XIN), a
company listed on NYSE as the chief financial officer and director.
Mr. Zhang has extensive financial expertise and financial
management experience. He has served as an independent
director in various listed companies, including, among others,
China Ming Yang Wind Power Group Limited (a company listed
on the NYSE, stock code: MY), China Fordoo Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, stock code: 02399) and CCS Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600180). Mr. Zhang was qualified as a
certified public accountant and was granted such certificate by the
State Board of Public Accounting of the State of Texas in the
United States in August 1995. He obtained his membership from
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July
2002. Mr. Zhang holds a master’s degree in professional
accounting and a master’s degree in business administration from
West Texas A&M University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Hui, aged 37, joined the Group in November 2018 as
the Chief Operating Officer. He is the legal representative of &3l
AR RIERERESEE AR A (Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management Limited), a subsidiary of the Company,
and also holds several directorships in certain other subsidiaries of

the Group.

Mr. Wu has over 10 years of experience in internal control and
management of financial corporates. He has worked in Zhongzhi
Capital since 2016 and is currently holding the post of its
supervisor. He is also the supervisor of Changzhou Jingjiang, and
PO B A B 18 b % B 1 B PR A A (Tibet Kangbang Shengbo
Business Management Company Limited*) (“Tibet Kangbang”).
As at the date of this annual report of the Company, Zhongzhi
Capital, Changzhou Jingjiang and Tibet Kangbang are controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wu obtained a master of
management degree from the Central University of Finance and
Economics in 2008.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in investment holding,
provision of corporate advisory services, investment advisory and
assets management services, proprietary investments and money
lending.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance has been
covered in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as
well as this Directors’ Report of this annual report. Risk disclosure
sections that follow hereafter should be read in conjunction with
the "Management Discussion and Analysis” and note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements. These form part of this
directors’ report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Operational risk

With reference to uncertainty in the regulated business
sustainability pose other operational risks to ZZCl Corporate
Finance Limited (“ZZCF"), the Group majority put its effort on an
external client who has injected significant portion revenue during
the Year, by processing several business transactions with the
Group. This phenomenon leads an adverse impacts on the Group's
profitability. In such result, ZZCF aggressively expands and diversity
the scope of the regulated business. In addition, ZZCF has also
developed and implemented differentiated business strategies to
relocate different competent experts, licensed persons and
professional staffs of front, middle and back office to strengthen
its expertise and capacity to accomplish ZZCF's newly key
performance indicator in near future.
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Business and associated risks

The Group has been reliant on its revenue streams to meet its
overhead commitments principally comprised of staff costs and
rental expenses. In doing so, the Group has sought to grow its
business operations without reliance on its original capital and
reserve to meet these commitments. With objective of sustainable
exploitation of harvest strategy for the Group to smooth out the
declining business in current, the Group has implemented an
internal reorganizational restructuring and adopted the new
business strategy to reform the business of the Group. After this
first stage of reformation, the revenue was improved in the
second half of the Year. Nevertheless such exploitation brings
improving result of the Group’s business after the first stage of
reformation, the inheritance of the former business strategy has
remained its adverse effect in the first half year of the Year. In the
presence of the Group's estimation, the revenue in future may
insufficient to satisfy on the expenses of retaining talented staffs
to carry on their contributions with the Group; besides, the Group
may face the challenge of talent shortage, spending on capital
expenditure, technology upgradation and the expenditure of
rental of business premises may not entirely be covered by revenue
in the long-run future. Moreover, subject to China’s capital control
restrictions and the fluctuation of exchange rate between
Renminbi and the Hong Kong dollar, the flexibility under business
operation of the Group are being affected by the uncertainty as
aforementioned.

Credit and counter party risks

The Group does extend credit financing and carries a money
lender license in Hong Kong, therefore credit and counterparty
risks shall be carefully evaluated and managed. As mentioned in
this report with heading “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
a loan of US$31 million was default in repayment. The Group had
received partial repayment of the loan and will attempt to further
negotiate with the borrower in relation to the repayment
arrangement in respect of the remaining balance of the loan and
interest accrued thereon. The influence of the default in
repayment of the loan does not have significant impact on the
daily operations of the Group. The Group’s deposits with licensed
banks in Hong Kong also give rise to counterparty risks, although
these are well-known and well-capitalized institutions such as the
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation and the Bank of
East Asia.
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Financial risk

The Group has not borrowed during the Year so there have been
no liquidity and funding cost risks. The Group has maintained its
investment portfolio to Hong Kong and US listed securities with
manageable market risk and liquidity. As the Group diversifies its
revenue stream and perhaps starting to apply leverage, its financial
risk profile may change accordingly .

Environmental policies and performance

The Group's policies and practices are environmentally friendly. To
help conserve the environment, the management has
implemented green office practices and practice of recycling and
reducing consumption of resources. The Group commits to
maintain awareness within the Group of the responsibility of the
Group and its employees to ensure protection of the environment.
For example, purchasing the environmentally preferable products
with reputable certifications or labels, transmission of bulk
documents through electronic means, marking up of documents
electronically rather than using printed version, double-sided black
& white printing, recycling of printed papers and envelops, and
switching off lights and air-conditioning after working/non-office
hours, public holidays.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations is a cornerstone of
operating the businesses of the Group. Changes in laws, rules,
regulations and enforcement practices may constantly pose
challenges to the operation of the Group. Amongst others, the
Group operates within the confine of the relevant company laws
in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, British Virgin Islands, Israel,
England, the United States and The People’s Republic of China, as
well as under the GEM Listing Rules and the Securities Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (“SFO"). ZZCF
is a corporation licensed under section 116 of the SFO for carrying
on type 1,4,6 and 9 regulated activities, and therefore subject to
the requirements of SFO and codes and guidelines issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
("SFC").
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ZZC| Credit Limited holds a money lenders licence and is subject to
the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the laws of Hong Kong). To provide for the control and regulation
of money lenders and money lending transactions mainly involves,
the Commissioner of Police and Registrar of Money Lenders. The
Group has established and maintained adequate policies and
procedures to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations. In addition, the Group has also adopted a
whistleblowing policy for reporting of wrong-doing within the
Group. The whistleblowing policy can be found in the Group’s
compliance manual which is regularly reviewed and updated as
and when necessary. The Group has assembled a team of
professionals with many years of experience and expertise in legal,
compliance and financial control in the financial industry. With the
right blend of talent, this team provides the Group with the
requisite level of quality assurance to ensure compliance with all
relevant laws and regulations, and to minimize the Group's risk
exposure as it embarks on new business initiatives in relation to
money lending business.

Key relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group has developed and implemented a competitive
remuneration structure which is key for the Group to attract and
retain the best talent. Details of emolument policy and employee
benefits are set out in the section headed “Employees and
remuneration policies” under “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. The Group’s operational and
organizational structure is fairly simple and has not encountered
major difficulties in recruitment, retention or restructuring. There
have been no interruptions to operations nor any labour disputes
to date. In addition, the Group encourages and supports
employees to attend courses, seminars and workshops that are
relevant to their jobs to obtain up-skills so as to keep them
challenged and engaged as well as assist the Group’s sustainable
business success.

Since listing on GEM in June 2010, the Group enhanced its
compensation policy with the implementation of the share option
schemes, aligning the long-term objectives of staff with those of
the Group.
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The Group has maintained productive relationships with its
customers, investees, co-investors and suppliers. With its
professional board, company website, financial reports and the
annual general meeting, the Group has significantly improved its
transparency and communication with its shareholders. The
controlling shareholder has also been very supportive and
resourceful in growing the business and mindful of all
shareholders’ interests to see the Company succeed.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of
the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 61 to 155 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in June 2019 (the
“Dividend Policy”). The declaration, form, frequency and amount
of dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”). The
Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. When considering dividend declaration or recommendation,
the Board shall take into account a number of factors, including
but not limited to the Group’s business condition and strategy,
capital requirement; and earnings, financial and cash flow
position, and distributable reserves.

Having considered the factors stated in the Dividend Policy
adopted by the Company, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the Year (2018: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 8 August 2019 to Tuesday, 13 August 2019 (both days
inclusive) for the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM"). During which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged
with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Wednesday, 7 August 2019.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the
Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 25
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders comprising share premium account
and accumulated loss amounted to approximately HK$650.68
million (31 March 2018: HK$839.46 million). Details of the
Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 March 2019 are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and as at the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. DUAN Di (Chairman)

Ms. ZHANG Yun (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHEN Jianfeng Peter (Chief Financial Officer)
(resigned on 31 October 2018)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. FU Chi King Johnson (appointed on 28 March 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID

Mr. ZHANG Weidong

Mr. ZHANG Longgen

Biographical details of the Directors currently in service are set out
on pages 15 to 19 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. The Company has
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
directors of the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by the Directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2019, so far as was known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of shares capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group:

FERRRAQTRMD REERDF
MR RRE

M2019F3A31H  BEEMA - THAL(R
NAEIEFRRETTEABBRIN RARQ RN kA8
MAROFPHRAR R BEEAREEFRBEK
BIZEXV B EE 2 ] 58 3 90 BRA& LA AN 2 B4 55 ok /8
REBEARRRIRERES LB EKRAE3IZ6IEAT
UGEENELMOERIAR  KEEHEEE
B SRR ATREBR TEAEBERKE R
AMBRERNE EREMEAER R AEEDNS%
A RS

Long positions in share of the Company RN DT RO IFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
LERNE|
RAEMNBLELD
REREHE &4 B A Bok
Jinhui Capital Company Limited Beneficial owner 2,159,552,102 60.82%
("Jinhui") (Note 1)
Jinhui Capital Company Limited BB A
("Jinhui”) (ffEE1)
Zhongzhi Capital (HK) Company Limited Interest of controlled corporation 2,159,552,102 60.82%
("Zhongzhi Capital (HK)") (Note 1)
HIEEAR(FE)BRAR([HEER REtEENER
(F&) D)
FEHR R IESEIREE AR Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,159,552,102 60.82%

(B A %) (Shenzhen Qianhai Zhongzhi
Jinhui Investment Management Partnership
Enterprise (Limited Partnership)*)
(“Shengzhen Zhongzhi”) (Notes 1 and 3)
RYFEFESEREEBREELE
(BRER)(DRYIGED (Aat15k3)

28

REHAE S



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % A< |84 B A7 PR 2

2018/19 Annual Report 4

&

4

Directors’ Report

R

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held in the Company
RN
R FE OB
RREHE g4 FERGEAE B
Kang Bang Qi Hui (HK) Company Limited Beneficial owner 455,820,525 12.84%
("Kang Bang") (Note 2)
RAEE (BE)BR A A ([EH]) Em#BA
(FtaE2)
EINEREEEERLNBEREE) Interest of controlled corporation 455,820,525 12.84%
(Notes 2 and 3)
BMNEAEERERL(BRERE) ZESEE R
(Htax2 % 3)
OEERBEAEEEEE AR Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Tibet Kangbang Sheng Bo Business
Management Company Limited*)
(“Tibet Kangbang”) (Note 3)
BEEABECXERAR AR REHEER R
([PamiEEFs]) (HfaE3)
BN IEARERGR AT Interest of controlled corporation ~ 2,615,372,627 73.66%
(Changzhou Jingjiang Capital
Management Company Limited*)
("Changzhou Jingjiang”) (Note 3)
BMNRIEREBERAR(EMAI] ZESEER R
(Htet3)
Zhongzhi Capital (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%
REER(HE3) AR HAE R
FERm UL R) EREE AR AT (Note3)  Interest of controlled corporation  2,615,372,627 73.66%
FERBULR)EREEER AR (MiF3) SEHEAEREZR
FERY (Ut R) BAREEBR A (Note3)  Interest of controlled corporation  2,615,372,627 73.66%
FEREUtR)EAREEBRAR (MiF3) SEHEAERNER
Mr. XIE Zhikun (“Mr. Xie") (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 2,615,372,627 73.66%

e ([T d ) (it 3) AR HLEE e

*  For identification purpose only
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Jinhui is @ wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhongzhi Capital (HK), which in turn is
wholly-owned by Shenzhen Zhongzhi. As such, each of Jinhui, Zhongzhi
Capital (HK) and Shenzhen Zhongzhi is deemed to be interested in the
2,159,552,102 shares in the Company by virtue of the SFO. Due to internal
group reorganization, Jinhui has transferred all of its shares in the Company
to its direct wholly-owned subsidiary, Zhong Zhi Xin Zhuo Capital Company
Limited on 12 April 2019.

Kang Bang is a wholly-owned subsidiary of # /| BB A& 0 (FRE
# ). As such, each of Kang Bang and &/ EHEHEKEF L (BRAE) is
deemed to be interested in the 455,820,525 shares of the Company by virtue
of the SFO.

Shenzhen Zhongzhi is owned as to 95% by Tibet Kangbang as limited partner
and 5% by Changzhou Jingjiang as general partner, and &/l 2 #E 1% &
F 0 (F R A ) is owned as to 99% by Changzhou Jingjiang as limited
partner and 1% by Tibet Kangbang as general partner. Tibet Kangbang and
Changzhou Jingjiang are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Zhongzhi Capital
which in turn is owned as to 95% by F82RF (LX) EXEEGR A A]. +
BRBLR)EREIEBRAF] is owned as to 99.933% by ,GF L (LX)
BN EH#H R 2 A] which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Xie. As
such, each of Tibet Kangbang, Changzhou Jingjiang, Zhongzhi Capital, &
R (IER) EXEEERAG], 18R E (LR EXEEFRL A and Mr.
Xie is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,615,372,627 shares of
the Company held by Jinhui and Kang Bang by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors were
not aware of any other person (other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June
2010. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarized in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix V to the Company’'s prospectus dated 11 June 2010.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the participants as incentive or
rewards for their contributions to the Group.

During the Year, no option was granted, exercised or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the Year was the Company, its
subsidiaries or its ultimate holding company or any subsidiary of
such ultimate holding company a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or in existence during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has through the Nomination Committee reviewed
the independence of each of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr. ZHANG
Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen who were in service during
the Year, and has received annual confirmations of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
These written confirmations also covered the immediate family
members (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) of each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company considers all
of them independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions which were required to be
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules. Moreover, there were no related party transactions as set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction
which was subject to the disclosure requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Ms. DUAN Di and Ms. ZHANG Yun, executive Directors up until
the date of this report, served certain capacities in Zhongzhi
Capital and/or its subsidiaries as listed below which provide asset
management, investment management and/or investment
advisory services that may compete or are likely to compete with
the business of the Group:

BMYFHITES

RAREBBRREEZEERNSBYIFNTES
(9 Bl B RN 2 {E B #9 Stephen MARKSCHEID 4%
A RIFRAERKREREA) BN - WEW
B8 F R I8 GEM L AR RIS 5.09 1B 008
HRIZFERRE - ZEEOERENRES
HRUIFHNTEENEBREKE (E&E R GEM
EWRAD c RARRABBEBEILAL -

BRERXS
AREEP - BMIRIEGEM LB ZREAT R
%Z%LX%&FF@L 25 o s REER

EBFAPMEHRERMFTIIMEMEER X FEKX
BT GEM ETRAIE 20 E T 2 IR 18 F A B3
RGRBEREZS -

EENHBFEBNES

EEAHEAY UTEERARTIRREL LT

RPEERE REMBLREEATE TRS
MEASABMRERCEEER REEE R

REBRE IR E k] e AR B X BB T

Ms. DUAN Di RBLt
Name of company Capacity
ARER 5%
Zhongzhi Capital Legal representative and director
PIEE R FERKALESR
RINELE B RRBERA R * Director
=
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Ms. ZHANG Yun REEL +

Name of company Capacity

NEEHE 514

Changzhou Jingjiang Legal representative and director

BT EERKARES

BMEBEBIRERL(BRER) Appointed representative
XEERE

BMEKREEEEZAERA A" Legal representative and director
EERKARESE

TeErtEERERERAR" Legal representative and director
EERKARESE

TRARCEETEENGREE(BRAR) Appointed representative
XEERE

BMEECEEEZAERAR" Legal representative and director
EERKARESE

FRINBRIPEEIRBERAA Legal representative and director
EERKARESE

ERERRERESROE (ERER) Appointed representative
XEERE

BEREANRERESROE(ERER) Appointed representative
XEERE

FINENEHE SRR ER AR * Director
o

ERREREEBRAERAR" Legal representative and director
EERKARESE

LEERBRDBIRAR] Director
o

# subsidiaries of Zhongzhi Capital ' FEEARNER

* associate of Zhongzhi Capital * EF%QKE’JH%&%’R
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As of 31 March 2019, Zhongzhi Capital, through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Jinhui and Kang Bang, indirectly owns a 73.66%
interest in the Company and is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Zhongzhi Capital’s key services include private equity
investments in the primary market, private placement, mergers
and acquisitions of overseas businesses and funds which may
compete or are likely to compete with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
business or interest of the Directors, the controlling shareholders
of the Company and their respective close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) that competed or might compete
with the businesses of the Group nor any conflict of interest which
any such person had or might have with the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No donation was made by the Group during the Year (2018: Nil).

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group endeavors to minimize impact to the environment. For
the purpose of disclosing the information in relation to
environment, social and governance (“ESG") in accordance with
ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules, an
ESG report of the Company will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company within three months after
the publication of this annual report of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

In the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 100% of the Group’s revenue with the largest
customer constituted approximately 72% of the Group's revenue,
which has resulted in an over concentration of revenue
contributed by one customer.

Based on information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the knowledge
of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float in the issued share capital of the Company pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not have any outstanding bank loans and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

ADVANCE TO AN ENTITY

On 7 September 2017, ZZCl Corporate Services Limited (the
“Lender”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a loan agreement and a security agreement over
shares with Geoswift Holding Limited (the “Borrower”), an
independent third party of the Group, pursuant to which the
Lender agreed to grant a loan facility of up to US$31.00 million to
the Borrower for the term of 18 months at interest rate of 7% per
annum while the Borrower agreed to grant a first ranking charge
over 3,053 ordinary shares of Geopay Holding Limited, a
subsidiary of the Borrower, in favour of the Lender. The principal
amount of the loan with interest in the sum of approximately
US$34.10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$267.69 million)
has fallen due on 7 March 2019, but the Borrower was unable to
repay the said amount on the due date, which constituted a
default in repayment of the loan under such loan agreement. On
19 June 2019, the Group received US$300,000 from the Borrower
as partial repayment of the loan. The Company will attempt to
further negotiate with the Borrower in relation to the repayment
arrangement in respect of the remaining balance of the loan and
the interest accrued thereon. Further announcement(s) will be
made to follow up the details as and when appropriate.

Details of the above were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 September 2017 and 8 March 2019.
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PROPERTIES

The Group did not own any property or property interests as at 31
March 2019.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalized by the Group during the Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 156 of
this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practice adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 38 to 54 of this annual
report.
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AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as the auditor
of the Company on 13 October 2017 to fill the casual vacancy
arising from the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers. Save as
aforementioned, there has been no change of auditor of the
Company in the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Year have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
DUAN Di

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2019
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

©

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “CG Code") throughout the Year.

The Board regularly monitors and reviews the Group's
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
had made specific enquiries to all the Directors who
confirmed their compliance with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the Year. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company
during this Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board compositions

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy
and overseeing the development of the Group. In so doing,
the Board receives monthly reports from the Chief Executive
Officer, monitors the internal control policies as well as risk
management effectiveness, and evaluates the financial
performance of the Group with an aim to enhancing
shareholders’ value. The Board currently comprises two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board sets out on page 26 of this annual report.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
amongst them, if any, are set out on pages 15 to 19 of this
annual report.

Five board meetings were held during the Year. The

attendance of the relevant Directors are set out on page 46
of this report.
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Independent non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors representing not less
than one-third of the Board with all of them having
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The Company has,
through the Nomination Committee, reviewed the
independence of, and received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID, Mr.
ZHANG Weidong and Mr. ZHANG Longgen, and considers
all of them independent in accordance with the guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Delegation to Board committees and
management

The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance, which
includes formulating business development strategies,
directing and supervising the Group's affairs, reviewing the
financial statements of the Company, approving quarterly
reports, interim reports, annual reports and announcements
of quarterly results, interim results and annual results,
considering dividend policy, reviewing the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and so
on.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee with written terms of reference set out
in accordance with the CG Code. More details of these
committees are set out in separate sections of this report.
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The Board delegates necessary powers and authorities to the
executive Directors to facilitate the efficient day to day
management of the Group’s business. Investment decisions
were made by the executive Directors pursuant to the
procedures and limits adopted by the Group. Delegated
authorities in the form of monetary limits were set for the
executive Directors and management of the Group for
financial commitments and capital expenditures so that they
could apply their discretion and respond swiftly to
investment opportunities and business needs.

The Board also delegates certain necessary powers and
authorities to the subsidiary’s board of directors to review
the corporate advisory services while the Board has an
oversight role.

In addition, the Board delegates to the Remuneration
Committee authorities to determine remuneration for
individual executive Directors and members of senior
management.

Corporate governance functions

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance yet being pragmatic on
business decisions and management efficiency. The
independent non-executive Directors were members, and
represent the majority, of all the Board committees of the
Company, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Whilst the
Board was ultimately responsible for corporate governance
matters, it delegated much of these functions to the Audit
Committee which comprised only of independent non-
executive Directors and was assisted by CGPL (the “Internal
Auditor”) performing the internal audit function.
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During the Year, the Board, among other things, reviewed
the policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
reviewed the Group’s compliance manual; reviewed and
monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Continuous Professional Development

Reading materials relevant to the Board’s duties and
responsibilities and/or the Group’s businesses are provided
to the Board from time to time to develop, refresh and
update their knowledge and skills and to keep them abreast
of the latest developments.

Each Directors has also provided to the Company a record
of the training he/she has received during the Year, which is
set out on page 46 of this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are separated.

Ms. DUAN Di is the Chairman of the Company who is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board. Ms.
ZHANG Yun is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
who is responsible to the Board for managing the business
of the Group.
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(E) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(F)

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are for a period of three years while the term of
appointment of the non-executive Director is for a period of
two years. All of them are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company pursuant to the Articles of Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three member, Ms.
DUAN Di and two independent non-executive Directors
namely, Mr. ZHANG Longgen (Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee included,
among other things, (i) formulating, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for all Directors and members of senior
management; (ii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iii) determining
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management; and (iv) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held two
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
Group's remuneration policy and structure, determined the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors, gave
direction on and approved the remuneration package of
senior management and made recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of a non-executive Director
having regard to comparable companies and other relevant
factors.
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The remuneration payable to members of the senior

management during the Year fell within the following
bands:

SREBABRNFEOHFMOFRATE

o

Number of
senior management

BREERAY

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

£ % 1,000,000 7T 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference. It currently comprises three members,
Ms. DUAN Di (Chairmen of the Nomination Committee) and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Stephen MARKSCHEID and Mr. ZHANG Weidong. The
primary duties of the Nomination Committee covered,
among other things, (i) the reviewing of the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives) of the Board; (ii) identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates for
directorship; and (iii) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or reappointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
established policy and procedure for the nomination and
appointment of new Directors, reviewed the structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting in 2018,
and nominated the appointment of a non-executive
Director.
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According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size, composition and diversity (including the
evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional experience,
cultural and educational background, gender and age of the
Board members and assessment on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors) of the Board at least
annually. It is responsible for making recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and succession planning for
the Directors from time to time and selecting suitable and
qualified individuals to become Board members. In
evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, the
Nomination Committee considers various factors including
but not limited to: the character and integrity; skills and
expertise; professional and educational background;
potential time commitment for the board and/or committee
responsibilities; and the elements of our Board Diversity
Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination Committee
makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the
appropriate person among the candidates nominated for
directorship. The Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in
accordance with the Articles of the Association and the
GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of
having a diverse board, and sees increasing diversity at
board level as an essential element in maintaining a
competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable
growth for the Group. A balanced and diversified Board
brings a broad range of views to bear upon discussions and
critical decision-making, and balances against “group
thinking”. Our Board Diversity Policy is multi-faceted
stressing business experience, skill-sets, knowledge and
professional expertise in addition to gender, ethnicity and
age. The said elements have substantially been included in
the current Board composition.
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(H) AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors namely, Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. ZHANG Longgen
and Mr. ZHANG Weidong in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee include, among other things, (i) reviewing
and supervising the financial reporting process; (i) reviewing
internal control as well as risk management systems of the
Group; (iii) reviewing the consolidated financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group;
and (iv) reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of
audit work of the internal auditor and external auditor and
ensure their coordination. The Audit Committee held four
meetings during the Year.

During the Year, the Audit Committee was engaged in,
among other duties, receiving and reviewing reports from
the Internal Auditor, reviewing quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group and providing advice and comments
thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems
and made recommendations to the Board for improvements.
The Audit Committee considered and approved the terms of
engagement and remuneration of the Internal Auditor and
external auditor, and discussed with them the nature and
scope of their audits before the audits commenced. In
discharging its duties, the Audit Committee met with the
Group’s management, Internal Auditor and external auditor
several times during the Year.

At the meeting held in June 2019, among other things, the

Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report and
recommended it for the Board’s approval.
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() ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND () EEEEREI

TRAINING

During the Year, the attendance records of the Directors at RAFE SEEHFEEFeeR  ERE
Board Meetings, Audit Committee Meetings, Remuneration Eoex HNZELSER RLRLESE
Committee Meetings, Nomination Committee Meeting and BmR2018FRRBFERNEG - LRIBFIZE
the 2018 Annual General Meeting, and their training g (NN

records are as follows:

Number of meetings attended/held

hE/BEEAY
2018
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Board  Committee ~ Committee  Committee General
Name of Directors during the Year Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Training
37 HH R’E 20185
¥56¢  Z8®  EE®  ZR®  BREF
RERESEL 3 23 £3 83 A& 3
Executive Directors: HATEE:
Ms. DUAN Di Bzt 5/5 - 212 1" I v
Ms. ZHANG Yun KEXL 5/5 - - - n v
Mr. CHEN Jianfeng Peter RalBEE
(Resigned on 31 October 2018) (R20185E 10 A31 HEHE) 33 - - - 7 v
Non-executive Director: FHITEE
Mr. FU Chi King Johnson HERRE
(Appointed on 28 March 2019) (#2019 3 A28 AEZ M) - - - - - v/
Independent non-executive Directors: ~ BU#EH{TEE :
Mr. Stephen MARKSCHEID Stephen MARKSCHEID 5t £ 5/5 44 - n I v
Mr. ZHANG Weidong RERTE 55 44 M N 0 v
Mr. ZHANG Longgen REREE 55 44 M - 7 v
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(J) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL

The Group places high importance on internal control which
is the foundation of the Group’s reputation and
maintenance of clients’ confidence. The Board is responsible
for supervising a sound and effective internal control system
in order to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company and the assets of the Group against improper use
or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information,
and ensuring compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
The Board has delegated responsibility to its Audit
Committee to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control matters. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems so that the
Group's objectives can be achieved, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee was assisted by the Internal Auditor,
to assess and review if a sound and effective risk
management and internal control system are in place at
least once a year. The Internal Auditor reported to and met
with the Audit Committee to review internal audit findings
on enterprise risk and internal control matters.

Risk management system

Based on the Group’s business and operations, Internal
Auditor, using risk-based approach, has identified and
carried out review on four areas covering financial,
operational, strategies and compliance.

The approach used by the Internal Auditor comprises the
following phases:

o Obtaining an understanding of the existing
procedures, systems and controls established by the
Group through enquiries and discussion with
management and appropriate personnel;

o Identifying and classifying the key risks faced by the
Group;
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. Assessing the likelihood and impact of each risk factor;

o Carrying out review and assessment on the those
critical aspects of the key procedures, systems and
controls of the Group to address the risk factors;

o Evaluating the residual risks with the relevant control
measures taken into account; and

o Making recommendations, based on Internal Auditor’s
observations, documentation and review of the
procedures, systems and controls that could improve
the effectiveness and/or efficiency of the procedures,
systems and controls to mitigate the risks to which the
Group is subjected.

Based on the report done by the Internal Auditor, the Group
has been reminded that the uncertainty in the regulated
business on Types 1, 4, 6 & 9 conducted by ZZCF may bring
the SFC's concern.

Internal control system

The Group has set up an effective internal control
mechanism which are sufficient to enable the Directors to
make a proper assessment of the financial position and
prospect of the Group.

Internal Auditor has conducted a review of the Group’s
internal control system by conducting interviews,
walkthroughs and tests on the effectiveness of the
procedures, systems and controls established by the Group
in its operating cycles, in particular, revenue and receipt
cycle, treasury management cycle and compliance
management cycle.

With respect to the internal control review done by the

Internal Auditor, no major issues on control failure is noted
during the Year.
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The Board has conducted a review and is of the view that
both risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate for the Group to achieve its
objectives during the Year. The Board will continue to assess
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems taking into consideration of the results of
reviews and audits performed by the Internal Auditor,
external auditor and Audit Committee and making sure that
all significant legal and regulatory requirements are adhered
to.

Dissemination of inside information

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information and enable a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of material information of
the Group, the Group has adopted policies and procedures
which sets out guidelines and procedures as well as
measures to handle and disseminate inside information as
well as to establish minimum standards for handling of
material non-public information to protect client-sensitive
data and avoid violating any applicable laws or internal
policies. With these procedures and measures in place, the
Group is able to control and properly discharge its reporting
obligation, especially in relation to inside information
disclosure obligations, in a timely and effective manner and
in accordance with the requirements under applicable laws.
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(K) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

(L

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditor were approximately HK$1.08 million and HK$2.43
million respectively. The non-audit services were related to
the professional fees for investment due diligence services
HK$1.88 million, tax compliance HK$0.39 million and other
consulting services HK$0.16 million.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which
give a true and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The statement of the Company’s auditor about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report”
on pages 55 to 60 of this annual report.

(M) COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. CHAN Sau Mui Juanna, the company secretary of the
Company, is a fellow member of both the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. During the Year, she
undertook no less than fifteen hours of relevant professional
training to update her knowledge and skills.
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(N) DIVIDEND POLICY

Subsequent to the Year, the Board has approved and
adopted the Dividend Policy on 21 June 2019 that aims to
set out the principles and guidelines of the Company in
relation to the declaration, recommendation and payment
of dividends to its shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of
dividends should be in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. When considering dividend
declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take into
account the following factors: —

(1) business condition and strategy of the Group;

(2) capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential
project or investment;

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and
distributable reserves of the Company and the Group;
and

(4)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the
provisions of the Articles of Association and any other
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of
dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to
recommend final dividends to the shareholders for approval;
and to declare or not to declare any other dividends,
including but not limited to interim and/or special dividends,
after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) to
(4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified

and/or cancelled from time to time as the Board may think
fit and necessary.
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(O) CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

(P)

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
and putting forward proposals

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any two or more
registered members of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
or any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) holding not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company, shall have the
right, by written requisitions, to put forward proposals and
require an extraordinary general meeting (the “"EGM") to be
convened. Subject to applicable legislations and regulations,
the procedures for Shareholders to convene and put forward
proposals at an EGM are as follows:

1. The written requisitions shall be deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong situated
at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong (for the
attention of the Company Secretary), specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists.

2. The Company will then verify the request with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and
upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will then ask the Board
to convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the regulatory requirements and the
Articles of Association to all the Shareholders. If the
request has been verified as not in order, the
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the
outcome and an EGM will not be convened as
requested.
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3. If within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general
meeting but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Proposing a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, no person shall,
unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also notice in writing signed by
the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be
elected.

The written notice must state the full name of the person to
be proposed for election as a Director, as well as the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Company will assess whether or not it is necessary to
adjourn the meeting of the election to give Shareholders at
least 10 business days to consider the proposed
appointment.
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(Q) INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its Shareholders. The
Board strives to encourage and maintain regular
communication with Shareholders through various means.
The Company encourages all Shareholders to attend general
meetings, which provide opportunities for direct dialogue
between the Board and the Shareholders, and for
Shareholders to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and
goals.

At the annual general meeting held 10 August 2018, the
Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and representatives from the auditor of the
Company, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, were present
to attend to possible questions from Shareholders.

The Company updates its Shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its notices,
announcements and circulars, as well as quarterly, interim
and annual reports. The corporate website maintained by
the Company at www.zzcapitalinternational.com provides
an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders. Shareholders and investors may at any time
send their enquiries to the Board by addressing them to the
Company Secretary by post at 11/F, 8 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong or by email at infohk@zzcapitalinternational.com.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZZ CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
HEEAERAERAAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZZ
Capital International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 61 to
155, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

BREESEE

FAREFFEERERFINFEXEHE - RBYHA
PRAaBHRANBEATRRERNTH - G&F
AeERMEFBREAMBHRRLL AR RS
EITREN - AP TSHELFHREHRERBNE
B o

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

REESEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEANFTNNEERARETSEE

Classification and fair value measurement of convertible loan receivable at fair value through profit or loss

(“FVTPL")

BAFE AR ER TRREMH 7 BER A FETE

We identified the classification and fair value measurement
of a convertible loan receivable at FVTPL as a key audit
matter due to its significance to the consolidated statement
of financial position and management judgement exercised
in determining the classification of such convertible loan
receivable due to the potential voting rights existed as at
31 March 2019 as set out in note 4 and selecting an
appropriate valuation technique and key inputs used to
determine the fair value of the convertible loan receivable.
As set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the fair value of the convertible loan receivable
as at 31 March 2019 is approximately HK$167,986,000,
representing over 23.4% of the total assets of the Group.
BB EREERAFESABRNERATRKRERHN S
BEATEFERBARENSEE  WHAREHES Y
BARREM S BERRBANEEIRZEN2019F 3 A 31
HEITHE (M 4PE) - B IR EE € & e W AT 3R iR
ERONDEREDHE EREENGERMTRERS
HANEBEERKATBREKRERN A TE - Fa T BmE
MIEE14F7E, - 20193 A31 8 » BIRATRERHA
FERK167,986,0008 T HBE EEEBLEED
23.4% A E o

Our procedures in relation to classification and fair value
measurement of convertible loan receivable at FVTPL
included:
EABEERAFEFABRNERITRRE RN S E
AFEFEZEFBIE

e understanding and evaluating the controls over the
classification and valuation of the convertible loan
receivable at FVTPL;

o TEENFEHIEEZRAFET ABRNERITRERE
REY D HE R A E RIS

e obtaining the signed agreements and analysing the
terms in the agreements;

o ERDEFJNOHREEDIHZIEN

e evaluating the entity’s assessment on the classification
of such convertible loan receivable;
o FEERHZMUTRRRRD BT

e obtaining an understanding of the entity’s valuation
process in selecting valuation techniques and adopting
key inputs;

o EETHRERNMEBRRETEZNMGERMRIKAN
BR2E0

e evaluating the independent professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o FHEBVHEEMAEMNKE BN REFEIL
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

BREETEE %)

Key audit matter (Continued)
HREFESAERE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMETTNMEERRETSE

The fair value of the convertible loan receivable was

estimated by the management based on binomial option
pricing model, using the significant observable inputs
including the financial forecast of Geopay Holding Limited
(“Geopay”), and the pre-tax discount rate used in
determining the equity value of Geopay, in which 3,503
shares of Geopay are charged to the Group as collateral.
The Group had engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform such valuation. The details of the fair
value measurement are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

R AT ER 2 A FETIHEREER B BETE
B8+ {8 FH Geopay Holding Limited ([ Geopay |) 884 7%
TR B AR B E Geopay IR BEM M ATAA R REE KA
B A BUR(EET, B 3,053 % Geopay B 1 B 1E A IE 1
mERTESE E5BCEBEBE Y IXAEMETHE
BLE - AP EAENFBTRANGE B HmRMEI2

=]

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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engaging our internal valuation expert to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation technique adopted
and check its mathematical accuracy; and

BB T AP A BB (B B R AT PR R A (R E R &Y i
H W mE A HBEEE &

evaluating the significant unobservable inputs in the
binomial option pricing model, including the financial
forecast of Geopay, and the pre-tax discount rate used
in determining the equity value of Geopay, in which
3,503 shares of Geopay are charged to the Group as
collateral.

A —EAREEERADNERTAIERE AR
& + B 1E Geopay 8 7% T8 8 K2 Fi 1A & 7€ Geopay [ #E (B
ERTRRIBRIE X + H i 3,053 % Geopay [& {3 EfE AR
AmERTESE -

HAbfE 2
RAREFAUAMELAE - HLELREF

BANGEES - BTEEGFEMHHRR KR MNZ
G
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o
FERMBGEMBRERNES  RFNEER

BEREMES  EUERY  ZREMESSE
B EPBHRRARMERHBETRTENIE
MEEBAEBEAEUTFEEAHERBAAIT
Moo BERBMERTHIE - WREMRAEM
SEFEERERRL  RAFTERELEE -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chan Ka Sing.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 201943 A 31 H 1L 41
20195 20184F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FHET FHEIT
Revenue WA
Corporate advisory income T EAR WA 5 1,630 16,148
Loan interest income B B HA 5 2,305 =
Investment advisory and management WEZERARERIRA
income 5] - 230,299
Total revenue FEUN N 3,935 246,447
Net investment (loss) income W& (B8R WA 58 6 (84,992) 6,275
Interest income B WA 6 9,009 1,022
Other (losses) gains Hib (B18) K= 6 (24,945) 2,318
Operating expenses KER (186,903) (229,240)
(Loss) profit before tax BrEL AT (E1R) = A (283,896) 26,822
Income tax expense st 7 (813) (6,020)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE) =T 8 (284,709) 20,802
Other comprehensive loss: H2HEEE :
ltem that may be subsequently reclassified E#Esi@&EFHHEEIEZR
to profit or loss: HIER -
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBEEMNE
translation of foreign operations HZER (523) (2,631)
Total comprehensive (loss) income FAZE (BB WAL
for the year (285,232) 18,171
(Losses) earnings per share attributable to  ZRQ & HEA A FEG B
owners of the Company (E18) &F|
— Basic (HK cents) — EARGEW) 12 (8.02) 0.59
— Diluted (HK cents) — 858 (B 12 (8.02) 0.59
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B B SR D 2R

At 31 March 2019 i 20194F3 H 31 H

2019 % 20184F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
BaE FETT FEIT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Plant and equipment 5 Kkt 13 851 10,030
Convertible loan receivable at fair value BAFEEGAEBEH
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") FEUR AT IR AR B 3R 14 - 249,405
Loan receivables U E K 15 16,002 =
Deposits birgia 16 2,341 207,581
Available-for-sale (“AFS") investment At ERE 17 - 14,694
Total non-current assets ERENEERER 19,194 481,710
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables B o EWFIE 18 52 233,072
Convertible loan receivable at FVTPL BAFETAERD
FEU AT HR AR B 3R 14 167,986 =
Other assets and receivables H{th & 7= & e 508 19 40,573 43,254
Held for trading investments BIEEERE 20 - 5,903
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EAERS
TRIEE 20 6,828 =
Prepaid tax TR 2,597 1,374
Cash held on behalf of clients REFEBEZRE 21 3 2
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 22 477,651 245,260
Total current assets MENEEBER 695,690 528,865
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables 2 ZIEN IR 23 3 2
Other payables and accruals HEMEAZIERERTER 24 5,200 14,240
Tax payable e B8 4,499 5,919
Total current liabilities MENE BB 9,702 20,161
Net current assets RBEEFE 685,988 508,704
Net assets EEFE 705,182 990,414
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SN N

At 31 March 2019 *20194F3 H 31 H

2019 % 20184F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the NAEHEE AEG
Company Em
Share capital A% A 25 35,505 35,505
Reserves B 669,677 954,909
Total equity DB 705,182 990,414

The consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 155 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21
June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

F61BEFE155BEAMIEREN2019F 6 A 21
AEEESSHERKETNZ  YAUATRERE
% °

DUAN Di
B
DIRECTOR
EF
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DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
% B HE £ 52 B R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE

Retained
profits

Share Share  Contributed  Translation (Accumulated

capital premium surplus reserve loss) Total
REER

B& R EE BABL BERE  (RHER) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TET TAT TAT TAT TET TAT

(Note ) (Note ii)
(Hizti) (i)
At 1 April 2017 201754810 35,505 706,245 9,000 = 221,493 972,243
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 20,802 20,802
Qther comprehensive loss for EREMEAER
the year - - - (2,631) - (2,631)
Total comprehensive loss FREAEBLE
for the year - - - (2,631) 20,802 18,171
At 31 March 2018 1201834318 35,505 706,245 9,000 (2,631) 242,295 990,414
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - (284,709) (284,709)
Other comprehensive loss for ~ FREM2EER
the year - - - (523) - (523)
Total comprehensive loss for FREAEBELS
the year = = = (523) (284,709) (285,232)
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3A31A 35,505 706,245 9,000 (3,154) (42,414) 705,182

Note i The Group's share premium represents the proceeds received from share Histi: AEBERMBRERBRGEITZAEHRE IR EMERE
issuance, net of any directly attributable transaction costs credited to share FEIERZ ZAAR) - IH AR K AR B o
capital and/or share premium.

Note ji:  The Group'’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value — Ffstii - 74 BB A B A H - T AT AR 15 5 48 UK B 9 BT B
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation ARG EEBBIEETRIBEMEZETHARR KL
prior to the listing, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued EEREEE -
in exchange thereafter.
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mablame R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 ) # £ 201943 H 31 H I
2019 % 2018 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REET
(Loss) profit before tax BrAEAT (BE) & F (283,896) 26,822
Adjustments for: HATSIBELRE
Interest income from bank deposits RERITFRZHEMA 6 (9,009) (1,022)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  HEME &R ENEIE 7,180 -
Depreciation e 13 2,057 2,308
Dividend income S dSR PN 6 (2) =
Fair value loss on held for trading BHIEEERENQNTE
investments, net 518558 6 = 772
Fair value loss on financial assets BEAFEFABRNESE
at FVTPL BEBRFHE 6 3,575 -
Fair value loss (gain) on convertible loan  15E A A FEF AER
receivable designated at FVTPL B AT R E R A
FEEE (W) 6 81,419 (7,047)
Operating cash flows before movements & & ¢S BATHL LR
in working capital V=1 (198,676) 21,833
Increase in held for trading investments FHEEBEIRE ML N = (6,560)
Decrease (increase) in deposits Ba R (E) 10,384 (2,452)
Increase in loan receivable FE U & FRA93E B0 (16,018) =
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables B WG IER A () 233,020 (224,806)
Decrease in other assets and receivables  E {th & 2= [ fE U ZRIE R 2,833 410
(Increase) decrease in cash held on behalf REFiEHZIRE (320)
of clients Ve (1 215
Increase (decrease) in trade payables B ZEMTIER I R ) 1 (401)
Decrease in other payables and accruals ~ E b ZIEN ETER
i (9,205) (36,017)
Cash generated from (used in) operations &2 %25 (FTH) R & 22,338 (247,778)
Profits tax paid ERAEH (3,129) (263)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) RS (FrAR )RS
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HER 19,209 (248,041)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES B EE
Purchase of plant and equipment BEME MR 13 (824) (9,884)
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEEAFEFAEMER
instrument at FVTOCI Was s T AFTS5RIE 14,694 -
Proceeds from the disposal of plant and HEME M REFTS A
equipment 458 —
Interest received from bank deposits BYOR B RITIF R FE 9,009 1,022
Dividend income received 2R B A 2 =
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mablameR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 A 31 H IE4F 1
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
HtaE FET FHEIT
Placement of time deposit with original BEARBABRIHAZN
maturity of more than three months —{EAMTEEFER
when acquired 22 (814,990) -
Withdrawal of time deposits with original  $REXAEE AR REIH B Z 7R
maturity of more than three months =& A &9 E BFER
when acquired 22 814,990 74,339
Purchase of AFS investment BEHEERE 17 = (14,694)
Placement of restricted bank deposits FAZBRAIRITER (5,492) =
Advance for a convertible loan receivable &2 AF(ET Az H EU AT
at FVTPL BRER 2N 14 - (242,358)
Deposit for proposed acquisition of a BB BE A RNZE
subsidiary 16(a) - (205,214)
Refund of deposit for a proposed REBRWBHNEARMNIZS
acquisition of a subsidiary 16(a) 195,000 -
Repayment of amount due to an EEEMN—EEEERA T
intermediate holding company KR IE - (272)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERATEFABZNS
BEE (4,500) =
NET CASH GENERATED FROM (USED IN) WEEERE (FTR)RE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES FEE 208,347 (397,061)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND (R4 NIRE& B8N
CASH EQUIVALENTS ORA) #% 227,556 (645,102)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRELNBRESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 245,260 889,942
Effect of exchange rates changes on the B R & B) ¥ LASMNE S B B4R
bank balances and cash held in foreign THERHBEREZTE
currencies (657) 420
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRIRGNBRELSEEY
END OF THE YEAR 472,159 245,260
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RENIREEBYELONT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 22 270,384 156,416
Short term bank deposits with original FEEIHBER =188 KA
maturity within three months HHIRITERK 22 201,775 88,844
Bank balances and cash as stated in the ~ #FAIRERERATIRTT
consolidated statement of cash flows EHEIRE 472,159 245,260
Restricted bank balances IR BIRITAE R 22 5,492 =
Bank balances and cash as stated in the 4R & B AR R & A AT &9 3R
consolidated statement of financial TSR RERS
position 22 477,651 245,260
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GENERAL

77 Capital International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered address
and principal place of business of the Company is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands and 11/F., 8 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong
respectively. The shares of the Company have been listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing”).

As at 31 March 2019, the directors of the Company
("Directors”) considered that the Company’s immediate
holding company was Jinhui Capital Company Limited and
the Company’s ultimate holding company was /&£ 2 (4t
R)& & & 3 B B A & (Zhonghai Sheng Feng (Beijing)
Capital Management Company Limited*). The Company’s
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Xie Zhikun.

The principal activity of the Company is investments holding.
Its subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
investment holding, provision of corporate advisory services,
investment advisory and asset management services,
proprietary investments and money lending.

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is
Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$").

*  For identification purpose only
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE
APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS EEAFHITEAMBEREER([F
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BUEREER]) REBMER
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") £ X BMERT A

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the
current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) -Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Amendments to As part of the Annual Improvements
HKAS 28 to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in
the current year. HKFRS 15 superseded Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS") HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits (or other
components of equity, as appropriate) and
comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to
apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 April 2018 and has used
the practical expedient for all contract modifications
that occurred before the date of initial application, the
aggregate effect of all the modifications was reflected
at the date of initial application. Accordingly, certain
comparative information may not be comparable as
comparative information was prepared under HKAS
18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related interpretations. The application of HKFRS
15 do not have any impact on the timing and amounts
of revenue recognised in the respective reporting
periods as the investment advisory and management
agreement with the intermediate holding company
("IAM Agreement”), as set out in note 5, expired on
31 March 2018, and therefore there is no impact to
the Group’s revenue of investment advisory and
management income recognised for the Year.

Information about the Company’s performance
obligations and the accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 5 and 3
respectively.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces
new requirements for 1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial

assets and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with
the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e.
applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including impairment under ECL model)
retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 April 2018. The difference between carrying
amounts as at 31 March 2018 and the carrying
amounts as at 1 April 2018 are recognised in the
opening retained profits and other components of

equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of

HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.

70

ERHFIEBMEREER(FH
BUEHREER ) REBMBEHR
HEAMEET R (#)

7N £F 52 58 5 A R A9 R ET B R M AR 3R
EEAARBBUBREERERT A

(&)
2.2 BRBEREERFIFLHMT A

AEEERAFERBAEEBRE
HRFIO R e TARBCELEHHE
B AP B RS ERIEL Z HRBIERT -
BEEMBMELENEIRSIANTA
EZHRE DeREERERAE
ZOENRFE D) EREERTHE
REHZEYMEEER(EREES
B1) R3)—MEHeEt-

AEBCDREEEMBRELERF9
SRETE  BIEIR N ERE B EHRE
AERIZE 95 - BIETN2018F 48 1H(E
WRIEABE) REUEER 2 TRBWE
Bkt RE (BIEBEBEEEE
BAETRE) BXWEEN 201844
A1BEBERZTAEREBR
F e R2018F3 A3 HZERABEER
2018 F4 R 1A RAEMER 2%
BN FRE &M R E Mg
R MITEED B ER -

it ETHLRER R BAI L&
RARKBERIIREBEEESEA
FIREMT A ERNFTERHE -

FAE BB SR R B ORE L
Bt BRI i 3 50 -



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % < |84 B A7 PR 2

2018/19 Annual Report 4%

&

4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F3 H 31 H 1L 4

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and
measurement of financial assets subject to ECL under
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2018.

ERFITEBMBHRELERN(F
BUEREER ) REBMER
HEERMERT AR (&)

REZ BB LRV E B HR
SEARBFBUBEREERNERT A

(%&)

22 BRERUBREEAEIHELHMTA

(%)

EAXERE BB REEREINE
2 EE

TRIRBBBEESMIEHRELERFE
FRBABEIENFEIVRZEHREER
EBEARZEMEERBEXERBE
2018F 4RV B ZHERETEIBN °

Equity
Financial  instrument
assetat  at fair value

Financial FVTPL  through other
assets  required by Comprehensive
F designated HKAS 39/ income Retained
investment at FVTPL HKFRS 9 ("FVTOCI") profits
EAEEE
F30%/FR
BREEER BAYHE
EERATE  F9BEE HPN
SAREN  RATEFA  REKEN
THEERE SREE BENEREE E#IA REEH
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
iF3 TEL TEL FAr FAr
Closing balance at 31 March 2018 14201843 B 3184
—HKAS 39 HREH—BEe
FTERIE 395 249,405 5903 - 242,295
Effect arising from initial ERERBEHE
application of HKFRS 9: BEEAZIR
ELfEE:
Reclassification from AFS investment Rt H £ &) @
ELipid - - 14,694 -
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 R 201854 1B
Nt 249,405 5903 14,604 242,95
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application
of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Notes:
(a) AFS investment

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income
for the fair value changes of its equity investment previously
classified as AFS investment. The investment is not held for
trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.
At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, approximately
HK$14,694,000 was reclassified from AFS investment to
equity instrument at FVTOCI, which are unquoted equity
investment previously measured at cost less impairment under
HKAS 39.

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group has also reassessed its investments in equity
securities classified as held for trading under HKAS 39 as if the
Group had purchased these investments at the date of initial
application. Based on the facts and circumstances as at the
date of initial application, HK$5,903,000 of the Group's
investments were no longer held for trading and the Group
did not elect to designate the equity securities as FVTOCI but
continued to be measured at FVTPL.

(0) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables and
amounts due from subsidiaries. Except for those which had
been determined as credit impaired and fully impaired under
HKAS 39, trade receivables have been assessed individually.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
other assets and receivables, loan receivables, cash held on
behalf of clients, restricted bank balances and bank balances,
are assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

For bank balances, the Group only transacts with reputable
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
rating agencies and there has been no recent history of default
in relation to these banks. The ECL is not material.

For amounts due from related companies, the Directors make
individual assessment on the recoverability of them based on
historical settlement records and past experience. Based on
assessment by the Directors, the ECL for amounts due from
related companies are not material.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

As at 1 April 2018, the Directors reviewed and assessed the
Group's existing financial assets for impairment using
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort in accordance with the
requirements of HKFRS 9. There was no additional credit loss
allowance being recognised against retained profits as the
amount involved is insignificant and further assessment
process is set out in Note 31.

2.3 Impacts on opening statement of financial
position arising from the application of all
new standards

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting
policies above, the opening consolidated statement of
financial position had to be restated. The following
table show the adjustments recognised for each of the

3 H 31 B IHERE

ERHFIEBMEREERM(FH
BUMEHREER ) REBMBEHR
HEAMEET R (#)

7N £F 52 58 6 A R AY R ET & R M AR AR
HEARBEBMBERELENERT A

(%&)

22 BRERUBREEAEIHELHMTA

(#)
BEAEBHAEBUBEHREEREIN
EBEZHEBE(H)

Wit : (%)

R2018F4A18 - ESREHABRITHIR
ERBBEIRMAEFEASERAIZIEN
EREHNRTIEASEREGEREERT
HHERBE BEERYAREEMTBEK
KRB NERTRE - AEBE L ERRBE
MERFEIMZEBBRER REKESR
MEBER B S THEFHNKZE
31

2.3 ERFBEFEERHF BN
RELHR

MR AR EE 2 @t BRRES - F
R B BRAKRTEES - TRE
TR TEZERANABER LA
E-BEFIAXEHEHTE LA

line items affected. Line items that were not affected BITERE o
by the changes have not been included.
31 March 2018 1 April 2018
20183 A31H 20184 A1H
(Audited) HKFRS 9 (Restated)
EEUBRE
(REX) R 9 (&=E50)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFH#ET F#ET F#ET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Equity instrument at FVTOCI R AFEFAEMBEE
WamEm TA - 14,694 14,694
AFS investment AHEERE 14,694 (14,694) =
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Leases'

Insurance Contracts?

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

ERFITEBMBHREERN(F
BUEREER ) REBMER
HERAERT AR (&2)

BB {E R ER 2 H =] B BM R
HEAREBYHREEAEIT R

AEEWEEFEATIEB/MEHRER
ZHRI BB REEANARB BT HRE
ERNERT AR K2R -

BRMBREEUF 165 HE
T R

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKFRSs

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015 -2017 Cycle'

T Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020
> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1IE4EFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company (“Directors”) anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the
Group currently presents operating lease payments as
operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing cash flows by the Group, while upfront prepaid
lease payments will continue to be presented as investing or
operating cash flow in accordance with the nature, as
appropriate.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$11,132,000 as disclosed in note 28. These arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases; however, the
Directors do not expect there will be a material impact on
the results of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of approximately HK$2,236,000 as rights
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may
result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above. The Group intends to elect
the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group
will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a
lease which already existed prior to the date of initial
application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of
HKFRS 16 as lessee and would recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained profits
without restating comparative information.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
"Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. The amendments also
align the definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2020. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance
with transitions in note 2.1)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance
with transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group's
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue/net
investment income.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services
to the customer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance
with transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Corporate advisory income

Corporate advisory income from providing specified financial
advisory services in relation to type 4 (advising on securities)
and/or type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities within the scope of financial services related
activities, are recognised at a point in time when the reports
are issued under the terms of each engagement and the
revenue can be measured reliably, as only that time the
Group has a present right to payment from the customers
for the service performed. Invoices for the financial services
are issued upon signing service contracts and when stated
milestones in the contract are reached.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
rights to receive payment have been established.
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For the year ended 31 March 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing

All leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease
payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees

(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 A2 201943 A 31 HIF4ER

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions.

Share options granted to employees and others
providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment, if any, to the share
options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve, if any, will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 gl

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘(loss) profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of the
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April 2018. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presents as revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.2) (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2.2) (Continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit- impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit impaired.

(i) Equity instrument designated as at FVTOC!

Investments in equity instrument at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in
OClI and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investment, and
will be transferred to retained profits.

93

0019 4

3.

3H 31 HIL4ERE

FESTHEEK®)
ST HEE)
CREEE)

_%/’ﬂ’ﬁ/zl?? PEREETE (REMZE2.289
BRIRXEHE BRI HEERFEINE)
(&)

()  BHEKARF S WA

HERBHERAGTENSREE A
BERAFEFAREGEZEKE BB
TEANFBWATIERERFEET
AHER - MIBWMATIH —THEREE
RHAERAERMETUAGE  H
HERMBREERENEREE(R T
BRI MERHBEERENSRE
EmE - BT —HRSHE  FSKA
DHeREESRERAEAERN X
TUAER - MEERESRTAMNE
ERkEE FLREETHLEE
ERE RETEETHLREER

B1& - BRESHFHRENBUWATS
TREERAAERAERNXT A

(i) IEERERFEAEME KA
BmITA

EAFEFAREMEZEKET2 8
mTAREAHEBREAFENEZE M
ATEEHEENREREMEEEK
BERWRNIREEHRBRT  MB
IEHEITRER - HEZRERER -
Bt s BETtesmsERIE
& WGBS RE G -



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % A< |84 B A7 PR 2
2018/19 Annual Report 4

&
g

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 H 31 H IE 4

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FEEFEE (@)

Financial instruments (Continued) E®MIR &)

Financial assets (Continued) THREE &)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial THEENTERAEE (REMF2.2H)

assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with BEIKYEAE B EHREERFIFE)

transitions in note 2.2) (Continued) (&)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i) BEAFEFABzNTHEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being THEEREHEKN AN IEAFEFTAE
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated W R IETIEAFET AHAM
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. EEREETFTENEREE  2F

BB A HER ABRZN T AT E ©

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the BATEFABZHNESREERSR
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains HEHROATEE  ERAFERK
or losses recognized in profit or loss. The net gain or HHEERIBETPER - NIBRER
loss recognized in profit or loss excludes any dividend MRS ERFEIAEREREE
or interest earned on the financial asset and is BREX A A B B s F 8 B ET AT E (&
included in the “net investment (loss) income” line BYWASEZE | BH R -

item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including loan receivables, trade receivables, other assets
and receivables, deposits, cash held on behalf of clients,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed
individually. For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

98

kzxt

3.

4

FESTTHER )
SRIA®)

EHEE (#E)

EEEERE (RIFM T 2.2 98B IR X FEF
BB BIEERFE IRE) (E)

(ii)

(i)

EREZE

SRAMEERREEMNS AEER
B BHNEHERBFETHEEIN
KRB BRES AT KA BEEE
FIERA (BREAEE)ERCORET RA
KBTI AR B EE -

.—Lﬁ/\nﬁ

Tim bt REERR - ETR
BEBHEHROB AIZELEENSE
o BIEAEEZFAAE B AR
BREREMBRNEBOZEE SR
2 - RItERIE

ElERES#BEE
E-RARZHEHATREEMTRKE

EREBERAATENENFHEL
B BIRREMEED HIREERIE

CRHEELNREERENEERES

R LATF 5 5 19 1) B ER U

(@) BITATEFABREAMBRE
2



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % < |84 B A7 PR 2
2018/19 Annual Report 4%

&

4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 el

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group ‘s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit
impaired were assessed individually. Where ECL is
measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and days
past due.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9
with transitions in accordance with note 2.2) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at FVTPL, AFS financial assets and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets and is included in the “net investment (loss) income”
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in note 32.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at FVTPL.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are
classified as AFS financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted
equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured. Changes in the carrying amount of AFS debt
instruments relating to changes in foreign exchange rates, if
applicable are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on AFS
equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group's right to receive the dividends is established. When
the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including deposits, trade receivables, other
assets and receivables, cash held on behalf of clients and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is

considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of
90 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes
in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,

impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss in the
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of AFS equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the cumulative

gain or loss previously accumulated in the AFS revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Classification of convertible loan receivable
designated at FVTPL

As described in note 14, on 7 September 2017, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
loan agreement in which a loan facility of up to United
States dollars (“US$"”) 31,000,000 was granted to Geoswift
Holding Limited (“Geoswift”), an independent third party.
The loan facility was granted with an option for the
Company to convert, at the Group’s discretion, such loan
receivable of US$31,000,000 into 2,000 shares of Geopay
Holdings Limited (“Geopay”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
Geoswift. At the same time, the total number of shares of
Geopay can be increased from 10,000 to 13,000 shares at
the discretion of Geopay. This will dilute the Group's interest
in Geopay from 20% to 15.38%, depending on the
numbers of issued shares of Geopay at time of exercising
the option (“Option”).

When determining the classification of such convertible loan
receivable, the Directors assessed whether the potential
voting rights in Geopay contribute significant influence by
the Group over Geopay as at 31 March 2019 based on all
the facts and circumstances that affect the potential rights.
In making the judgement, the Directors considered the
terms of exercise of the potential voting rights, the potential
voting rights held by other third parties and other
contractual arrangements. After the assessment, the total
number of shares of Geopay outstanding can be increased
at the discretion of Geopay which would dilute the Group’s
potential interest in Geopay to below 20%, the Directors
concluded that there is uncertainty of the Company’s
shareholding in Geopay and therefore the Company does
not have significant influence over Geopay. Such convertible
loan receivable is therefore accounted for as financial assets
and is at FVTPL.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation
process

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value that are determined based on the management’s
estimations. In particular, the estimation of fair value of the
convertible loan receivable designated at FVTPL as disclosed
in note 14 includes some significant assumptions not
supported by observable market prices or rates, including
expected volatility, and discount rate. As at 31 March 2019,
the fair value of the convertible loan receivable designated
at FVTPL was approximately HK$167,986,000 (2018:
HK$249,405,000).

Note 14 provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 H 31 H IE 4

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"), responsible for
making strategic decisions, allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments.

After IAM Agreement as set out in note 5 and 33(a) was
expired on 31 March 2018, the CODM, who allocates
resources and assess performance based on the consolidated
financial information for the entire business, considers the
Group operates only in the provision of corporate advisory
services and loan financing services. Information reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment focuses on revenue analysis by services provided.
No other discrete financial information is provided other
than the Group’s results and financial position as a whole.
Accordingly, the Group does not present separate segment
information other than entity-wide disclosures, major
customers and geographic information.

The Group does not have any plan for investing in
alternative investments opportunities in the current year.

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable
for the provision of corporate advisory services and loan
financing services.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from major services are
as follows:

5.

WA R 7 EEF

WITESCHRATELCERRE  BEE
HIREEARR - nERREREFBEE DI HEK
| o

FF AR 3 5 K& 33(a) FTEk B AR A R]RT
VR EZAREERZEN2018F3 A 31
BiEgmik TBLEBERRE(EREGEH
BERABRRBEBIRERRTHRR)R
B AEERAFENEREARBLERE
BRSMERBERS - B kT HER
MR E B & ERKERENERIERNIZT
REARBELNRADT - BAEEME
BRI ARSI - SR H A B S B
HER At RERBEESRE  FEREP
M@ ERIN  REBIEZTBLHEE
o

AEBNAFE L EEMRENEMIZER
SHEtEl

YA s RE ARt b R B A AR 75 S B SR B AR 7%
B UK e U TRIBR AR ©

AEEEZRBFWANDITLT

2019 % 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Corporate advisory income T EERBA 1,630 16,148

Loan interest income BERF BUA 2,305 =
Investment advisory and management WERARLEIBIA (HE)

income (Note) - 230,299

3,935 246,447

111



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % A< |84 B A7 PR 2

2018/19 Annual Report 4

&

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 H 31 H IE 4

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

All services are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Note:

Investment advisory and management income in prior year represents
either performance fees or management fees to the Group from the
intermediate holding company, whichever is higher, in every calendar
year under the IAM Agreement dated 2 February 2016 with the
intermediate holding company. When service was rendered,
management fees or performance fees were recognised as revenue
when it was probable that there was an economic inflow to the entity
and the amount can be reliably measured. When performance fees
were contingent on a future event which is outside the control of the
entity, management considered the contingent portion was only
recognised when the contingent event had happened and there is no
uncertainty on revenue recognition. While the quantum of
performance fees could be ascertained upon disposal of assets in the
investment portfolio, management fees are only recognised on a time
apportionment basis with reference to the net asset value of the
investment portfolio managed by the Group by the end of each
calendar year.

Geographical information

(a)

Revenue from external customers

5.

WARDEHER (&

FRIERBE BB —FIAT - BMEEHH
HEAFISHEB TR UBRBED
BEZFERTKENNRHER
fitsr . E—FERABAREEWAEIR201652 A2
BRMEERARMFETHREHARE R HH
BETHEAEFHRERAANSEERL N
RREANEREMUBEEBE)  MERRS
B HERTEALARATEBSETUTE
HERERERAARARARBANA  HE
AEARMKREHAEDNEREFTRER
RS RIS B AR A B E B Al
REETREME - TRAABS BERR -
RABANSETRHEREAAREERE
T MERBRRAERSABFARB2ERE
B SRR A 2 AR R AR M LA

ol

B &
(a) REINBEF KA

20195 20184F

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FEIT

Hong Kong a7 2,902 8,100
The People’s Republic of China hEE A RILME([HE])

(“the PRC") 628 230,299
United Kingdom (“UK") B - 8,048
The United States of America E3E]

(the "USA") 405 -

3,935 246,447

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% 20194F 3 H 31 H IF4EJE
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA RS HEE (@)
(Continued)
(b) Non-current assets (b)) ¥REBEE
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Hong Kong B 847 1,026
Israel A5 4 7
UK R - 4,221
USA =5 - 4,776
851 10,030
The non-current asset information is based on the ERBEEER T ENEEMEM R
location of assets and excludes financial instruments BT EEeMTA(MEWER KIZ
(e.g. loan receivables and deposits). &)

FEEFER

Information about major customer

KEEXERP(EAKEKRARN10% A L)
MU AE ST -

Revenue from the major customer amounting to 10% or
more of the Group's revenue is set out below:

2019 20184F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Customer A (Note) EPA (Bat) - 230,299
Customer B ZFEB 2,850 -
Customer C BFEC 410 -
Customer D ZED 405 -

Note: The Customer A is an intermediate holding company of the Group

and transactions have been disclosed in note 33(a).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE
NET INVESTMENT (LOSS) INCOME/ 6. RE(EE) W AFHE FEK
INTEREST INCOME/OTHER (LOSSES) A EApth (B518) Wz
GAINS
An analysis of the net investment (loss) income, interest WA (B WMAFERE - MBI A REM (8
income and other (losses) gains is as follows: B)WEOOTOT -
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Net investment (loss) income K& (EE) WA FE
Net fair value loss on financial assets at R A FEFABINEREE,
FVTPL/held for trading investments TEEEREN AT EEEFE (3,575) (772)
Fair value (loss) gain on convertible loan &2 (B A8 25 HY FE UL AT #a A%
receivable at FVTPL EFXHATE(EER) W (81,419) 7,047
Dividend income A B A 2 =
(84,992) 6,275
Interest income FIE WA
Interest income from financial assets BEEERNFSWA
— Bank deposits — RITHFER 9,009 1,022
Other (losses) gains Hith (E518) W=
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  H&KE &R EHE1E (7,180) -
(Loss) gain on exchange differences [E 5 =5 (EE) ek (8,903) 2,318
Loss on early termination of operating REREEHEDENER
lease agreements (8,862) -
(24,945) 2,318
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 H 31 H IE 4

INCOME TAX EXPENSE FriSHiB
2019 & 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#7T FHT

Hong Kong Profit Tax ERBNEH

Current tax BN EATR IR = 1,332
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETIR 9 -
9 1,332

PRC Enterprise Income Tax A1 S FTIS AR

Current tax BN EAT 1R 635 -
The USA Federal, State New York City B - N RALT TSR

Income Tax

Current tax BUEATR TR 15 1,112
UK Corporation Tax REERIR

Current tax BVEATR 18 136 3,449
Israel Corporation Tax LAt ZER I

Current tax BIHARE TE 18 127
Total current tax BNERA TE AR RR 804 4,688
Income tax expense FriSFim X 813 6,020

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F 3 H 31 H IE 4

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted into
law on 22 December 2017. The Act includes significant
changes to the U.S. corporate income tax system that are
effective on 1 January 2018, including a reduction of the
U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The
Directors considered the Act has no significant impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

The corporation tax rate in the UK is 19% for both years.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)

profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

EHRBEX @

BIEREARKLMBECERBROL([DEMR
BEE ) R EMEREEIIED - ZMIE
FEPBEKBRARNHEAE25% °

FERFR B E AR (VAR R 2017F 12
B2R2BMFEEM - ZARREEEERD
EFEHRFIEHR2018F1 A1 HEARNE

BH) REBERCEMSHERI%
WE21% c BEERE ' ZARTEHEEH
BRREEEATE -

ZMEFREEENERREGZ19% °

AREFHBERX A RGEBEREREMEEK
SR ZEHA (B1R) MR T -

2019 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
(Loss) profit before tax BrEiAl (E1E) m A (283,896) 26,822
Tax calculated at domestic income tax AR TSR E 16.5% st E K
rates of 16.5% g (46,843) 4,426
Underprovision in prior year BAFERETR 9 =
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ BERFIUA Z Fiis
purpose (477) (39,330)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A HIFIFI S 2 TR &
tax purpose 17,784 630
Utilisation of tax losses previously not R LRI AR IRk
recognised (26) (460)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIER M AR E) AR IRIE K 2 7%
recognised -1 30,358 39,556
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries E b B AR = & E M B A T F X
operating in other jurisdictions TRz E (307) 1,337
Others Hip 315 (139)
Income tax expense for the year KREEMERHBAX 813 6,020
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1IE4EFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 7. FrEBim (&)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has tax losses of M2019F3HA31H - ASEAARRAIRE
approximately HK$526,966,000 (2018: HK$343,135,000) BB A Al i 2 A T TE BT 48 49 526,966,000 75
incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries which are JL(20184F : 343,135,000 L) © HiEEE
subject to the approval by the relevant tax authority. No AL EEHREHREALE - BERAREFR
deferred tax has been recognised in respect of tax losses due AAIFER - RS B ARSI S ERRE
to unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses FEFRIE o FiIEEIE Al R R4S o

may be carried forward indefinitely.

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8. FRr(&EHE)=EA
The Group’s (loss) profit for the year has been arrived at REFBMER (ER)ESMEHB TS E :

after charging:

2019 % 2018 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Depreciation (note 13) & (MaE13) 2,057 2,308
Auditor's remuneration ZE RN
— Audit fees — BB 1,080 1,820
Legal and professional fees FEERBEXEER 50,263 37,368
Employee benefit expense (including EERANAY (BIEESZ
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (B1%9)) :
— Salaries, wages, allowances and —I% - %4 2B RIEA
bonuses 78,993 110,071
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKEFET IR
contributions 261 564
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9.

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and

the CO, is as follows:

For the year ended

Year ended 31 March 2019

31 March 2019 # % 201943 A 31 A [H4EJF

EERESTHRAEME

R %8 A GEM £ 5 Bl & 2 R B 32 B 19
EZNERTBRABRFEFMAOT

HZEZ2019F3A31ALEE

Other
emoluments
paid or payable
in respect of
director's
other services
in connection
with the
management
Retirement  of the affairs
Salaries benefits  of the Company
Directors' and other  Discretionary scheme  or its subsidiary Total
Name of director fees benefits bonuses contributions  undertaking  remuneration
RESH MR
(RERARLT
EG) P
E: )
ek BERH BUARH 2Hfbef
38 Exne AR P HHMS  AEAHE HHas
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
Fiér Fién Fiér Fiér Fiér Fér
(Note 5)
(Hi#3)
Executive Directors (Note 1) e (1)
Ms. Duan Di Bt 2,062 - - - - 2,062
Ms. Zhang Yun FELt 1,406 - - - - 1,406
Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter (Note 3) &I %4 (#:23)
(resigned on 31 October 2018) (B 2018%F 10 A31 HEHE) - 5,183 2,000 15 2,500 9,698
3,468 5183 2,000 15 2,500 13,166
Independent Non-executive BUkHTES
Directors (Note 2) (Hi2)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % 788 - - - - 788
Mr. Zhang Weidong RERts 788 - - - = 788
Mr. Zhang Longgen RRRLLE 788 - - - - 788
2,364 - - - - 2,364
Non-executive Directors F47ES
M. Fu Chi King Johnson FHREE (20198
(appointed on 28 March 2019) 3A8REZRRE) 2 - - - - 2
5,834 5183 2,000 15 2,500 15,532
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1IE4EFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBETHRAEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018 BZ2018F3A31HILFE
Other
emoluments
paid or payable
in respect of
director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
of the
Retirement  affairs of the
Salaries benefits Company or
Directors' and other scheme  its subsidiary Total
Name of director fees benefits ~ contributions undertaking  remuneration
HEZEMRS
(RERART
KEMBAF
SHIEE)
ek RINEH 2 HMERN
i EEL0E EthiE A SEMR REABE G
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL FET TEL TEr FEr
Executive Directors (Note 1) BITEE (A1)
Ms. Duan Di Bzt 2,054 - - - 2,054
Ms. Zhang Yun RELL 1,400 = = = 1,400
Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter Bkt = 6,000 18 = 6,018
Mr. Cho Michael Min-kuk (Note 4) ~ #5&1E1SE 4 (Ffi4)
(resigned on 15 February 2018) (RR2018%2 B 15 HEHT) - 14,280 17 8,705 23,002
3,454 20,280 35 8,705 32,474
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors (Note 2) (Brz2)
Mr. Stephen Markscheid Stephen Markscheid % & 788 = = = 788
Mr. Zhang Weidong REREE 788 - - - 788
Mr. Zhang Longgen (appointed on &R 44 (7420184
4 January 2018) 1A4BEZT) 191 = = = 191
Mr. Edouard Merette (resigned on Edouard Merette 264
4 January 2018) (R2018%F 1 R4 HEHT) 673 - - - 673
2,440 - - - 2,440
5,8% 20,280 35 8,705 34914
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 2(

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

The chief executive’s emoluments and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as Directors.

Salaries and other benefits paid to Mr. Chen Jianfeng Peter include
his service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the payments made in respect of his loss of office,
amounting to approximately HK$2,500,000, during the year ended
31 March 2019.

Salaries and other benefits paid to Mr. Cho Michael Min-kuk include
his service in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the payments made in respect of his loss of office,
amounting to approximately HK$8,705,000, during the year ended
31 March 2018.

Bonuses are discretionary and are based on the Group’s
performance for the year.

There was no arrangement under which any directors
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during both

years.

None of the Directors received or will receive inducement
fees for accepting of office as directors.

Details of the material interests of the directors in
transactions, arrangements and contracts entered into by
the Group are set out in note 33.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 # % 20194F3 H 31 H 1L 4

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included one (2018: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2018:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

10.

AuEESHMES

FA AEBLURSFMETBE
(20184 : ML) ES - HFMFRBHRN L
XHIFE9 ° A - &R NIOAZ (20185 + =f7)
FARREFIESTRABRHMESR
HF RIS T

2019 & 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET

Salaries, allowances, bonuses and e RN A NREYHIE
benefits in kind 35,861 18,351
Retirement benefits BRIREF) 36 18
35,897 18,369

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

FEEEMEETIEBEANSSFHIES
AEAT -

Number of employees

EE%HE

2019 & 20184F
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 77T ZE 2,500,000 7 7T 1 =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 87T £ 5,500,000 75 7T 1 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 L= 6,500,000 7T - 1
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 L= 7,500,000 7T - 1
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000 12,500,001 7= 13,000,000 %8 7T 1 -
HK$14,500,001 to HK$15,000,000 14,500,001 7= 15,000,000 78 7T 1 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1E4EFE
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2018: nil).

12. (LOSSES) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (losses) earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data.

HE2019F 3831 BIEFEIERARR A
TERR SNSRI BRMANE - AREHR
PASR IR IR 2R BT IAR B (2018 4F « )

12. 8K (ER) &R

ARBHEA ARIEESRERRES (BB &
MIRBA TR E -

20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Losses) Earnings: (E518) & F -
(Losses) profit for the year attributable to  ZNA Rl #E A A fE(L
owners of the Company FR(ER) =T (284,709) 20,802
2019 & 20184
Number of shares: BRDEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary M EFRERR
shares for the purposes of calculating B8 (F518) BF 2 EEiK
basic and diluted (losses) earnings per hnEFH &
share 3,550,496,836  3,550,496,836

Diluted (losses) earnings per share amount was the same as
basic (losses) earnings per share amount as there were no
potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (2018: nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 A2 201943 A 31 HIF4ERE

13. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. BER%E
Furniture,
Leasehold  fixtures and Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
e & HE
I E$:30 ] R#E AE #@gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET FET
CosT B
At 1 April 2017 MR2017F4 /18 - 4,509 707 5,216
Additions NE 2,185 7,699 - 9,884
Disposals HE = (3,096) = (3,096)
Exchange realignment ER TR = 519 = 519
At 31 March 2018 R2018%3A31H 2,185 9,631 707 12,523
Additions NE 71 113 - 824
Disposals/Written-off & HRE (2,194) (8,439) (707) (11,340)
Exchange realignment E kS 9 (418) = (409)
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 711 887 - 1,598
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:itifE
At 1 April 2017 R201754818 - 3,212 12 3,224
Provided for the year FREE 271 1,896 141 2,308
Disposals HeE = (3,096) = (3,096)
Exchange realignment ERRE - 57 - 57
At 31 March 2018 7201843 A31H 271 2,069 153 2,493
Provided for the year FREE 351 1,635 71 2,057
Disposals/\Written-off H&E /HRR (564) (2,914) (224) (3,702)
Exchange realignment EREE 2 (103) - (101)
At 31 March 2019 R2019%F3 A31H 60 687 - 747
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2019 201943 A31H 651 200 - 851
At 31 March 2018 ®2018F3A31H 1,914 7,562 554 10,030

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and

equipment
Motor vehicles

Over the shorter of lease term
or 20%
20% to 50%

20%
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 A2 201943 A 31 HIF4ER

14. CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT 14. B AFEFT B EW AR
FVTPL BEX
2019 & 20184
HK$'000 HK$°000
Fi#T FHAT
Convertible loan receivable at FVTPL BATE ABERER
AT AR B R 167,986 249,405

On 7 September 2017, ZZCl Corporate Services Limited (the
“Lender”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a loan agreement and a security
agreement over shares with Geoswift Holding Limited (the
“Borrower”), an independent third party of the Group,
pursuant to which the Lender agreed to grant a loan facility
of up to US$31.00 million to the Borrower for a term of 18
months at interest rate of 7% per annum (“PayEase Loan")
with 3,053 shares of Geopay registered in the name of the
Borrower that are mortgaged and charged in favour of the
Lender as collateral (“Collateral”). The provision of the loan
facility allows the Borrower to fund Geopay to finance the
payment of part of the consideration for the acquisition of
PayEase Beijing (HK) Limited and PayEase (Hong Kong)
Limited (“PayEase Acquisition”) which was completed by
Geopay on 11 December 2017.

In connection with the loan facility, on 7 September 2017,
the Borrower granted a call option over 2,000 shares out of
10,000 shares of Geopay to the Lender, representing a 20%
interest in Geopay. The total number of outstanding shares
of Geopay can be increased to 13,000 at the discretion of
Geopay as permitted in the agreement, resulting in a
conversion of the Group’s interest over Geopay to below
20% at the time of exercise of the call option by the Group.

The exercise of the call option is at the Lender’s discretion
and the exercise price is US$31.00 million which shall be
either in cash or set off against the principal and any
accrued and unpaid interest under the loan facility
agreement. The option was expired on 10 June 2019.
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R201769R7H > FEERCERBAR
RRITERAl AR —RHEEE2EW
B 2 7)) B Geoswift Holding Limited ([ {& X
Al REBRNBYE=ZH)FIVERBER
‘R ERBE - Bt ERARERERA
&% 431,000,000 T ERGE - &
H18MEA - FHEA7E([PayFase BEFX) -
ERERAERABEELH3053K
Geopay RN 1EHE 1 - ZERMEUERA
B AR R ((EFR]) - BEFE
BB AT A Geopay iR 1t 8 £ X (UL BE
PayEase Beijing (HK) Limited F1 & {5 5 1+ (&
75) BMRAR] ([PayEase WEEEIH ) 3B H R
8 M Geopay 2017412 A 11 B5ERK o

HEFRREMS » N2017F9878 &%
ARV B XA % H 10,000 B& Geopay % 15 #1
2000 D M REEE - HE R
Geopay 20% 25 - ERHEALFABRT -
Geopay A B HE TR M L EE ME
13,000 % - B HUAR & B 7 Geopay # 1 25 10
REEITERB RS AER20% -

RBHERERABBRETE  1TEEA
31,000,000 37T * EA5 ARSI E K@t
Bt T A ARMEMEA RAMFIEH S
KXt o ZEED R 20196 A10HEM °
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14. CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT 14. B AFEFTTABZ I EW AR

FVTPL (Continued)

Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 September 2017.

On 3 October 2017, US$31,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$242,358,000) was drawn down by the
Borrower and call option has not been exercised as at 31
March 2018.

On 7 March 2019, the Borrower had defaulted the principal
payment and interest of the PayEase Loan due in March
2019. The Company is seeking legal advice as to how to
further protect its interest in connection with the default by
the Borrower including but not limited to consider taking
possession of the collateral, ie. the pledged shares of 3,053
ordinary shares of Geopay. On 19 June 2019, the Group
received US$300,000 from the Borrower as partial
repayment of the loan.

As at 31 March 2019, management performed a fair value
assessment of the convertible loan receivable at FVTPL based
on binomial option pricing model. As the Borrower had
defaulted the principal payment and interest of the PayEase
Loan due in March 2019, management considered the debt
of the convertible loan receivable at FVTPL would have a
minimal value. Therefore, the significant inputs are the
equity value of Geopay. Management has engaged an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers to
perform a valuation of Geopay using the discounted cash
flow model under the income approach.
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R F S
FORTHZAE -

BERANARHEA2017

MR2017F10A38 & X A B & B
31,000,000 € Jt ( /8 % 7 49242,358,000 %
TT) » MREBEAER 201843 A 31 H AT
1§ o

M2019F3A7H  ERABHERIZNAR
20194 3 A | #A#) PayEase B ;Y K & K Fl|
B o KNAR)IESt I — SREE B BER
ANBHFTSRNFEMEBREEZER B
BTRAEEFA M (BEERH 3,053
% Geopay & i ) - R 20196 H198 -
7N £ 8 Uy B 42 30 A (BB 5045 B 5% 300,000 3
=

20193 A31H @ EEERE _ENH
EE BREA SR A P E A BRI E Y Ak
BREFETAFETG - BARNERABER
ST 20194 3 A 2 A /Y PayEase B 5k AY AN
S RFE  MERERARATE ABD
K FEUR PTHRAR B M E IS EERIE o Bt -
F B8 A IR A Geopay IR EEE - B2
BEZE—RMMABILAEREEMARNE
_L’AT BRIBWAEKIRAMBERS RER
+ ¥f Geopay T T{E1E °
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14. CONVERTIBLE LOAN RECEIVABLE AT

FVTPL (Continued)

The equity value of Geopay is determined based on a
financial forecast of Collateral business covering a five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 21.80%. The
remaining forecast cash flows beyond that five-year period
are extrapolated for a steady revenue growth rate of 2%
thereafter.

Based on the fair value assessment, the Group recognised a
fair value loss of HK$81,419,000 on the convertible loan
receivable at FVTPL for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The PayEase Loan is a level 3 financial instrument and
change in fair value of the convertible loan receivable at
FVTPL are affected by the significant unobservable inputs of
the binominal model including the financial forecast of
Collateral business and the pre-tax discount rate used in
determining the equity value of Geopay. The higher the
equity value of Geopay, the higher the fair value of the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL. If the equity value of
Geopay used was 5% higher/lower while all the other
variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
convertible loan receivable at FVTPL would increase by
approximately HK$8,399,000/decrease by approximately
HK$8,399,000.
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14. BRYFEFTABRABBKATRER

ISENC )

Geopay MR EEE HIRIE R E A FHE
R 3 % a9 B 7% T8 ORI K BB AL 3R &
21.80% EE © #RiR% T F HAR A &R T T8 8
ReReWHEHEENEBEREERES
2% °

RIBATFETE  AEEREZE 201943 A
31 B IEFERIE A FE AB SR E U AT
B E R A FEET18 81,419,000 7T

PayFase B —EEE3MEMTE - MEAQ
FEGABSAEKATBRERNAFEE
B 8I|52 — A B ) E AN A R A BUE
i BREERRESNMEERNRAR
& T Geopay % # E B M & 57 Bt IR XK -
Geopay Mk EEEBEB = - AR A FEFTA
BEAERITREERHAFTEELS -
FT{# F3 #) Geopay B EEE EF+ T F& 5%
FIEEMESEFTE AR AT ER AR
EHEW AT R ERMEERAES ML
8,399,000 7T, R 447 8,399,000 & 7T ©
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15. LOAN RECEIVABLES

15. BIRER

2019 & 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fixed-rate loan receivables JEUE B E R 16,002 =

On 22 May 2018, the Group has signed an ancillary
transaction agreements with Aretex Capital include a loan
commitment agreement in which the Company agreed to
advance an amount of US$2,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$15.6 million) for a term of 7 years at an
interest rate of 9.5% per annum payable on a quarterly
basis to affiliates of Aretex Capital so that they can make
capital contributions in order to satisfy the requirements of
certain fund partnership agreements for their investments
in, among others, the acquisition of GKD Index Partners,
LLC's equity interests which ACP Index Partners Holdings
LLC entered into agreement with the Sellers as disclosed in
note 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amount to HK$16,002,000. The loan receivables
is secured by the partnership interest in Aretex Capital are
entitled as contemplated under the loan commitment
agreement. The Borrower is not permitted to sell or repledge
the pledged interest in Aretex Capital and its affiliates, and
Aretex Capital has certain equity interest of Alerian. There
has not been any significant changes in the quality of the
collateral held for the loan receivables. The Group has not
recognized a loss allowance for the loan receivables as a
result of these collaterals.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2019 are set out in note 31.
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20184 5 422 H » A& & B Aretex Capital
PRI BR 2 BEETER R - &
It A A AR E & F F F9.5% [ Aretex
Capital ) Bt B A B F — £ B HI7TF &
2,000,000 2 7T (#8 & 7 47 15,600,000 % 7T )
HIE - FBEEREREXA - MBEFEEAEL
FENREREREEENETESAER
BEOESK - HAP B 16 BT 5 ACP
Index Partners Holdings LLC E25%Z & /5] 32
W GKD Index Partners, LLC BORR#E & 17h3 o

201938310 BRKEZRNEEES
16,002,000 7T, © FEUE FA Aretex Capital
BRIBERAZ R R EEZENE B ERIEE
o [ERATTH E I EEIR Aretex Capital
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A Alerian BB TIRIE - BLEKRERFTH
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16. DEPOSITS

16. &

20195 20184F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Rental and management fee deposits HehEBELS 2,236 2,267
Deposit for proposed acquisition of a BUBNBARZZRS

subsidiary (see Note (a)) (ZHIE () = 205,214
Others Hip 105 100
2,341 207,581

Note: Hiat -

On 14 July 2017, ZZCl Index Partners LLC, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a unit purchase agreement
("Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement”) as the buyer (the “Buyer”) with
Mr. Gabriel Hammond, Mr. Daniel Hammond and Mr. Kenny Feng as
the sellers (the “Sellers”), Mr. Gabriel Hammond as the Sellers’
representative and GKD Index Partners, LLC, pursuant to which the
Buyer has conditionally agreed to acquire and the as Sellers have
conditionally agreed to sell the equity interest in GKD Index Partners,
LLC, subject to the terms and conditions therein.

Details of above transaction were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 14 July 2017 and 15 January 2018. A deposit of
approximately US$26,309,000 (approximately HK$205,214,000) has
been placed in an escrow account.

On 22 May 2018, the Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement was
terminated and the Company entered into several ancillary transaction
agreements with Aretex Capital Partners, LP (“Aretex Capital”), and
ACP Index Partners Holdings LLC, an investment vehicle managed and
controlled by Aretex Capital. ACP Index Partners Holdings LLC entered
into an agreement with the Sellers to acquire the equity interests of
GKD Index Partners, LLC which, among other things, facilitated the
release of the amount of US$25,000,000 deposited by the Company
in the escrow account. During the year, the Company received
US$25,000,000 (approximately HK$195,000,000). An amount of
US$1,309,000 (approximately HK$10,214,000) is utilised to settle the
legal and professional fees incurred.
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7201747 A 14 8 * ZZCl Index Partners LLC ( A<
ARIZHEZENMBAR  EREAR)(EH A
Gabriel Hammond %t 4 + Daniel Hammond 5 & &
Kenny Feng 5t (1ERZEER) [ZEEH])
Gabriel Hammond £ £ (1EAZ S E AR EK) &k
GKD Index Partners, LLCE] 37 %8 7 i B # &
(TAlerian BB EHZE D) » Bt - EFE B KM
RAEKEmMZEESE B IKHRE L EGKD
Index Partners, LLC #9 &4 + /BB F BB E R
HE PR R AR -

FRRSHBEEREA AR B A2017F7 A
148 K2018F1AISHZ R & R E& 4
26,309,000 3 7T (49 205,214,000/8 7T ) 2 177 R
AERF -

201845 A 22 A - Alerian B i1 & B 1 3% B &
1+ ZN72 B B Aretex Capital Partners, LP ([ Aretex
Capital]) % ACP Index Partners Holdings LLC (Aretex
Capital B3 RiZ M — IR E AR I 2B B
X 5 1% ° ACP Index Partners Holdings LLC £2 7%
£ 5 7721 2 Y2 GKD Index Partners, LLC & FEH) 2
- N(EPEE)RRBEARNRFARERS
#) & #825,000,000% 7T > F A+ A 2 & Y H
25,000,000 7T ( 49 195,000,0007T) - —£ 4
241,309,000 7t (4710,214,000 7% 7T ) B IEE.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% 20194F 3 H 31 H IF4EJE
EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FVTOCI/ 17. BAFEFTAREMEZEH KA E
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT #wIR/A ‘Hﬁ tHE?xﬁ
2019 & 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#z FHT
Unlisted equity shares, at cost FE TSR - IR AR - 14,694

The unlisted equity instrument represents the Group's
0.673% equity interest in SSC Holdco Limited through its
wholly owned subsidiary ZZCl Holding (I) Limited. As at 31
March 2018, the investment was classified as AFS
investment at initial recognition and reclassified to equity
instrument at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1
April 2018.

Due to the change of the Group's investment strategy from
overseas market to Greater China market, the Group
disposed its entire interest in ZZCl Holding (I) Limited to an
independent third party at a consideration of US$1.88
million (approximately HK$14,694,000) on 11 July 2018. No
gain/loss was resulted from the disposal.

FEMESTAAALESZSAEZEAWE A
71ZZCl Holding (I) Limited 7 SSC Holdco
Limited #E B £90.673% A& 4 - 7020184 3 A
310 - WERVREREDEAATHEER
& WHR2018FE4 A1 HERBE BT BERE
ERFORBEETHBEARAFETAR
K EEHERTA -

AR E BRI E R B E I T IS E E AT
EHE WAEER2018F7ANMABH
#ZZCl Holding () Limited 892 Sz H & T
—HB/ILE=7 - KER1,880,000 T (4
14,694,000/ 7T ) © N5 8 3 £ X 1 & M 2=
CXRRCI ey St

TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. ES W FIE
2019 & 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Trade receivables from: Z o RWFIBRE ¢

— Zhongzhi Capital — hEE AN - 233,072
— Independent third parties —BYE=FH 52 540
52 233,612
Less: Allowance of doubtful debts B REREE - (540)
52 233,072

The Group's trade receivables arose generally from the
provision of corporate advisory services, investment advisory
and management services.
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group’s normal trading term with its customers is that
payment is 30 days or due upon the issuance of invoices,
apart from the investment advisory and management fee as
described below. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management and executives
responsible for the related revenue. The trade receivables
amount has been received in full subsequent to the year
ended 31 March 2019.

All trade receivables are aged within 30 days based on
invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

All of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March 2019
and 31 March 2018 were within their credit terms with no
default history and neither past due nor impaired.

Trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 were assessed
individually. There were no additional impairment allowance
during the year ended 31 March 2019. Allowance of
HK$540,000 as at 31 March 2018 represents individually
impaired trade receivables which based on management’s
assessment, may not be settled in immediate future. The
amounts were written off as uncollectible in the current
year. There were no movement in the allowance for
doubtful debts for trade receivables for the year ended 31
March 2019.

Further details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
note 31.
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IE sk B EE BRI E -

201963 A31 HME 5 FE W IE Ty 13 Bl
HEFE o REIE2019F3 831 BIEEEY
EEINR BB - 201843 A 31 HAY#
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OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES 19. HthEEREBWFIE
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Prepayments TR FRIE 819 2,494
Refundable rental and management REHSNEEBILS
fee deposits 36,037 36,037
Others Hib 3,717 4,723
40,573 43,254
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/HELD 200 BAFEFTAEZHNERE
FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS E/BEEERE
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Hong Kong and the USA listed equity DEABEEEZEAER
investments classified as held for EE FHRERE 1R
trading, at quoted market price FrsRmE 6,828 5,903

These investments include listed securities in Hong Kong of
HK$3,444,000 (2018: HK$115,000) and listed securities in
the USA of HK$3,384,000 (2018: HK$5,788,000), which are
level 1 financial instruments and the fair value are based on
the quoted bid prices in an active market. There are no
significant unobservable inputs.

CASH HELD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS

The Group’s licensed subsidiary maintains segregated trust
accounts with a licensed bank to hold clients” monies arising
from its normal course of business. The Group has classified
the clients’ monies as cash held on behalf of clients under
the current assets section of the consolidated statement of
financial position, and recognised the corresponding
payables to the respective clients as trade payables on the
grounds that it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of
clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to use clients’
monies to settle its own obligations.
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21.

ZEREQERES EMFES 3,444,000
(20184 : 115,000/ 7t ) K& £ 1 & %
3,384,000 7T (20184 : 5,788,000 L)
HAEFI1HREHMTE  MEAFENERE
BHSHMmEST - MESEATUEHERGA
g o

REFEAEZEE
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22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

FE3H 31 HIEFEE

22, RITERERBEE

2019 F 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Restricted bank balances SR HISRITAE 54 5,492 =
Short-term bank deposits RRHEBIRTTIF 3K

— with original maturity within three — REHER=EAR

months 201,775 88,844

Bank balances and cash IRITEBRRIRS 270,384 156,416

477,651 245,260

Short-term deposit bank balances carry interest at floating
rates of 0.01% (2018: from 0.01% to 0.25%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2019, the short-term bank deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less amounted to
HK$201,775,000 (2018: HK$88,844,000). Term deposits
bear interest rates ranging from 1.03% to 2.70% (2018: FH =

from 0.35% to 1.01%) per annum.

23. TRADE PAYABLES

Included in trade payables are payables for clients monies of
approximately HK$3,000 (2018: HK$2,000) which are

segregated in the trust accounts.

REERRITE

AR H) 52 B8R 17 17 3K

0.35% % 1.01%) °

23. E5ENARE
SINESRAREREFE

MNEFEERF »
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MR2019%3A31H REHBA A=
R /201,775,000 7T
(20184 : 88,844,000/ 7T ) - T HFRH
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RIE 2 JE 3R
3,0007%8 7T (20184 : 2,000/& 7T ) °

BIZFZEF E0.01%
(20184 : 0.01% £ 0.25%)zH 8. o

& A =%

15 4
BEET



77 CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED H L % < |84 B A7 PR 2
2018/19 Annual Report 4%

&
4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B B 5 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #% % 20194F 3 1 31 H 1IE4EFE

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24. HttENFERESTER

20195 20184F
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET TFET
Other payables and accruals HAb R R IB R ERT & 5,200 14,240
All other payables are non-interest-bearing and have a term REZMEEEMEEMENZIE L ERE
of one month to twelve months in both years. BHRA—EAZ+ (@A -
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. BR7
Number of
shares Amount
RDEE |
HK$’000
T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each HRREE0.01 BT ik
Authorised: ERE
As at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, M2017F4H1H - 20184
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 3A31H -2018F4A1H
& 20193 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEBITRAR :
As at 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, M2017F4H1H - 20184
1 April 2018, and 31 March 2019 3A31H 2018%F4H1H
201943 H31H 3,550,496,836 35,505
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 7 June 2010, the Company adopted a share option
scheme which became effective on 18 June 2010 (the
“Share Option Scheme”) and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the date of
Listing. The Company operates the Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants for their contributions to the Group. Eligible
participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
directors and employees of the Group and other individuals
as determined by the directors on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to
120,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 120,000,000 Shares, representing 3.38%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company. The
maximum number of Shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company within any
12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of these limits are subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting with such participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is a prospective
grantee). In addition, any share options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
independent shareholders’ approval in advance a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors and ends on a date which is not later than
10 years from the date upon which the share options is
granted or the lapse of the Share Option Scheme, whichever
is earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (i) the
average closing price of the Shares quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.
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27. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Hong Kong

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in funds under the control of trustees.

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme subject only
to the maximum level of payroll costs of HK$30,000 per
employee, which contribution is matched by the employees.

The USA

The Group provides the option for employees of its
subsidiary in the USA to participate in a 401K retirement
plan. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of a plan
manager.

For employees choosing to participate in the plan, the
employer matches contributions of up to 4% of the
employees’ relevant payroll subject only to the maximum
level of payroll costs of US$10,800 per employee.

UK

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme for the
benefit of the employees of its subsidiary in the UK. Under
the scheme, members may elect to contribute up to 5% of
relevant payroll costs and the contributions shall be matched
by employer.
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28. OPERATING LEASE 28. KEMHE
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Minimum lease payments under FREEHE 2 REBERNK
operating leases during the year 37,603 46,626

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

RBEHR - REBEARBENIAT AR
HIM A EH R EHE RN 2 AR REES
HGE

2019 F 20184

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

Within one year —F R 4,048 42,855
In the second to fifth year, inclusive FoFERFERF(RREEREMT) 7,084 43,888
Over five years HBiEhF - 14,243
11,132 100,986

Operating lease payments represent rentals payables by the
Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are
negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of three (2018:
two to seven) years. During the year, the Group entered into
the deed of surrender and assignment agreements, to
terminate the existing lease agreement of certain of its office
properties. Cost of such termination was disclosed in note 6.
Accordingly, no commitments for future minimum lease
payments under such operating lease agreements is included
in the above.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has entered into the
Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement as described in note 16 for
the acquisition of the equity interest in GKD Index Partners,
LLC. The total consideration payable by the Group under the
Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement (including contingent
consideration) is not expected to exceed US$812 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,344 million).

The Alerian Unit Purchase Agreement was subsequently
terminated on 22 May 2018 as described in note 16.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged over years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to owner of the Company,
comprising share capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debt.

A subsidiary of the Group (i.e. ZZCF) is regulated by the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) and is
required to comply with certain minimum capital
requirements according to the rules of the SFC. The required
liquid capital according to the rules of the SFC was
HK$3,000,000 as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.
The management monitors ZZCF's liquid capital regularly to
ensure it meets the minimum liquid capital requirement in
accordance with the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules adopted by the SFC.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. @RiTH

31a.Categories of financial instruments 31a. €R T 23R
2019 & 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Convertible loan receivable at FVTPL & AF(ET AIEZEH
FEUR R RE B X 167,986 249,405
Held for trading investments FHIEEERE - 5,903
Financial assets at FVTPL HAFEFABSHNEMEE 6,828 -
Equity instrument at FVTOCI/ BRAFETAREMEERED
AFS investment B TA HEERE - 14,694
Amortised cost ﬁﬁfﬁﬁz$ 535,258 =
Loan and receivables (including ERRERGIA(BERe R
cash and cash equivalents) INEZEEY) - 723,159
710,072 993,161
Financial liabilities sRas
Amortised cost Ak AN 5,203 14,242

31b. B EREEBZERBEK

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise of
bank balances and cash, deposits, trade receivables,
other assets and receivables, convertible loan
receivable at FVTPL, held for trading investments, AFS
investment, cash held on behalf of clients, trade
payables and other payables. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk
attributable to the convertible loan receivable at
FVTPL, bank balances and trade payables which
are denominated in the currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they related. The management manages and
monitors this exposure to ensure approximate
measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

kzxt

01943 H 31 H

4

31. €T A %)

31b. W EREE R FERBE &)

5 B

(i)

BE¥mER

REEHERAEFEERIEEE
PN B SHEN R AT ERTA
Bam BN ER - RIT74
HBREHEMNFIBEENEER
%o BIREE TR BEE I A e
DA (R I BE B 20 BR B E Ea?a
i e

RImEIR - AEBEUINEFHE
MEREENEYAENREE
(I

Liabilities Assets
=K BE

2019 5 20184 2019 & 20184
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET FET FEIT
Us$ ETT 3 3,788 284,401 498,539
Pound sterling (“GBP") Z84% ([ 24£]) 210 2,840 1,980 1,539
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARK]) - 1 230,272 3,161
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on a 10% increase/decrease
in functional currency of respective entities
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A

201943 H 31 H 114

5

31. €T A %)

31b. W EREE B FERBE &)

m5 Rk (&)
(i) E¥RE(E)
BRERE DT

AT SRE DT TIRIEEEE R
ZNEEE HHBEINE 2 FHE/
EI0%ETF - 10% AR EE
EEEABTEANIBRE INE R R
LEREF{HINEE RS IEE

SERMER CBRELLE - &
RREDHTEBIEAINEHEZ 14
REMEEKIER @ WHRRSEHR
1 10% 2 JNEE B 3= B B ) BE AR
L2BE - LFNESRRERIEZ
wAIE I - EHRIEEEINE B
et B EAINERZE10% ©
AR E RSN aE B AR NS

positive number below indicates an increase in FE10% ' AlgEafEERE
post-tax profit, where functional currency of RMERZZE MATESBE
respective foreign entities had weakened 10% =
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 10%
strengthening of functional currency of
respective entities against the relevant foreign
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and the balances below
would be negative.
GBP RMB
REE ARH
HK$°000 HK$'000
T FET
2019 20194
Increase in loss for the year F R BRI N 148 19,228
2018 20184
(Decrease)/increase in profit EREN CFid), /1%
for the year (109) 264
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk (Continued)

For the exposure of HK$ against US$, there will
be no significant impact as HK$ is pegged with
US$. Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity
analysis is presented.

Interest rate risk

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances (see note 22 for details). The Group's
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates
on bank balances and HIBOR arising from the
Group's Hong Kong dollar denominated
deposits.

The management considers the cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant and therefore no
sensitivity analysis on such risk has been
prepared.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. T A @)

31b. W EREE B FERBE &)

31b.Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) i E B ()
(iii) Other price risk (i) EMERKERE

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from held for trading investments. The Group's
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
instruments operating in securities and
brokerage and internet industry sectors quoted
in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated
Quotations. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from the convertible loan
receivable designated at FVTPL.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity
price risk at the reporting date. If the equity
prices of the held for trading investments had
been 5% higher/lower (2018: 5%), post-tax loss
for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
decrease/increase by HK$285,000 (2018: post-
tax profit would increase/decrease by
HK$246,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2019, the financial asset’s carrying
amounts best represent the maximum exposure to
credit risk.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds,
the Group has concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables at 31 March 2018 as 100% of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s related
party within the corporate advisory and IAM business
segment. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group closely communicates with the intermediate
holding company for the settlement amount and
reviews the outstanding debt at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

In order to minimise the credit risk for accounts
receivables, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made and other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment under ECL model
upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
individually and performs impairment assessment
under incurred loss model for the year ended 31
March 2018. In this regard, the Directors consider that
the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
Accordingly, the loss allowance is measured under
12m ECL and the lifetime ECL for trade receivables of
HK$52,000 for the Group is considered insignificant.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience and
adjusts for forward-looking information. The Directors
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.
As such, the Directors considered the risk over ECL to
be immaterial after considering counterparty financial
background and credibility. Accordingly, the loss
allowance of other receivables is measured under 12m
ECL which is considered insignificant in respect of
other receivables (note 19) with a gross carrying
amount of HK$40,573,000 as at 31 March 2019.

Before granting the loan advances, the management
of the Company has obtained an understanding to the
credit background of the debtors and undertaken an
internal credit approval process. The management
closely monitored the subsequent settlement of the
individual loan and assessed impairment with
reference to fair value of the collateralised cruise and
residential properties located in Hong Kong. Also, the
management might request for highly liquid collaterals
in order to minimise the exposure of credit risk. For
the purpose of impairment assessment of the loan
receivables as disclosed in note 15, the loss allowance
is individually measured at an amount equals to 12m
ECL since as there had been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. In determining the
ECL for these assets, the Directors have taken into
account the financial position of the counterparties,
the industries they operate, as well as their latest
available operating results, in estimating the
probability of default of each of these financial assets
occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.
No impairment allowance was recognised during the
year based on the quality of the collateral held.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings. The credit risk for bank balances as
disclosed in note 22 as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March
2019 is considered as not material as such amount is
placed in reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL on these balances are by
reference to probability of default and loss given
default by credit rating grades published by
international credit rating agencies and concluded that
the ECL are insignificant upon application of HKFRS 9
on 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 and thus no
impairment loss was recognised.

The Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over
a number of counterparties.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of
convertible loan receivable at fair value through profit
or loss as disclosed in note 14 that are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. The maximum
exposure at 31 March 2019 is HK$167,986,000. The
maximum exposure after taking into account the
collateral and credit enhancement at 31 March 2019
is HK$167,986,000.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

All financial liabilities are due within twelve months

from the end of the reporting period or repayable on
demand and non-interest bearing.
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32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

0]

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used) are disclosed in
respective notes.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their fair value.

During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018,
there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and

Level 3.

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2019

32. T TR ZRAFEFE

() AEEREEHELEUQATE

HEZSMEAERSMAMS
AFE

AEEZETEREENRSREY
RZRAFEFE - BRFEMEER
FENETEE(LERMAGKEN A
k2 BRNEREENSHEE

SRR PSRRI B HK
AN EMEERERABZRE
BEEANFERS -

H E20194F k20183 A31 8 IF4F
B B F_R/EE=ZHBEL
AR o

R2019F3 A31 A2 A FEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R -~ E=H st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FETT FET FET FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL/ 2 AF(EFFABHZ
held for trading CREE/
investments BIEEBERE 6,828 = = 6,828
Convertible loan BATFETAERD
receivable at FVTPL FEW AT HAAR B 5K - - 167,986 167,986
6,828 - 167,986 174,814
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32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 32. EMITAEZAFEFE®)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) XEERLEMEELQAFE
and financial liabilities that are measured STECEREERERMARGZ
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) NFEEE)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2018 R20184E3 F31 B2 AFEELR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1% FE_& E= st

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET TETL TATT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL/ 12 AFEzF AEBRE 2
held for trading CREE/
investments BEEEKRE 5,903 = = 5,903
Convertible loan BAFEFABRN
receivable at FVTPL FEUR AT A RE & 7 = = 249,405 249,405
5,903 - 249,405 255,308
(ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) F=FAFETENLE
measurements
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Convertible loan receivable R AT B 3R
Opening balance HRAE e 249,405 =
Addition NE - 242,358
Change in fair value NEEZS (81,419) 7,047
Closing balance AR A A 167,986 249,405

Change in unrealised (losses) gains for FLAERFTIHFEE 25T A
the year included in profit or loss for 1835894 R EIH (EE)
assets held at the end of the year Wes B ) (81,419) 7,047
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32. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF 32. EMITAEZAFEFE®)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value (i) F=RAFEFENLHR®
measurements (Continued)
In estimating the fair value of the convertible loan REFTRKATRRER 2 A FER -
receivable, the Group engaged an independent ZK%I?H&%iE}%%@EW}ETﬂHEQ
professional valuer to perform such valuation. The HE AEEERELEB I EXEGHE
management of the Group works closely with the ZY A B E@E ME A NE
independent professional valuer to establish the R 28 o
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model.
Information about the valuation techniques and inputs BERAGHEERERETEEAFERE
used in determining the fair value of the asset is 2HMER BRI 14

disclosed in note 14.

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEARS
In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 9, 15 and AR A IRERMEES » 15 R 18 ATRFill AR
18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had S50 REBREZ2019F & 20184F 3 A
the following transactions and balances with related parties 31 RILFEHEEET MRS Rk -

during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

(@) On 2 February 2016, Zhongzhi Capital and ZZCF (@) M2016F2A28 AEBEAKRTE
entered into the IAM Agreement, which was BARPERMEFTUIEEZARERD
subsequently approved by independent shareholders & EEN2016F3 218
of the Company on 21 March 2016. Zhongzhi Capital RRABZBIRELAE - FHEEXRER
is a controlling shareholder of the Company interested RNTERRARER - R2019F3 A31H
in approximately 73.66% of the issued share capital of B AR RQR)4973.66% B B 1T IR AN
the Company as at 31 March 2019. ZZCF is a wholly- wo FHEHERPERMERARAZE
owned subsidiary of the Company. A= NE
Pursuant to the IAM Agreement, ZZCF was appointed BREREZALERGEZ  FHEHER
as an investment manager to provide investment TEMEBRZTR/RKRELIE 82016
advice and investment management services in respect F3H21HE2018F3 A31 BRFE
of a portfolio of listed securities to Zhongzhi Capital BERREBEHALMBESFEENIRER
commencing from 21 March 2016 to 31 March 2018. BRI EEER o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

IAM revenue is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered and all relevant
conditions have been fulfilled in accordance with the
terms of the agreement. Under the current investment
advisory and management agreement, management
fees are recognised on a time-apportionment basis
with reference to the net asset value of the investment
portfolio managed by the Group, while performance
fees are recognised upon disposal of assets in the
investment portfolio advised by the Group and when
the fees become unconditional to the Group.

With respect to the investment included in the
investment portfolio being managed by ZZCF under
the IAM Agreement, a side letter was signed
subsequently by Zhongzhi Capital and ZZCF (the “Side
Letter”) which clarified the intention and agreement in
relation to the performance fee arising from the
disposal of investments (the “Disposal”). In particular,
it stated that (i) the Group shall recognise the
performance fee for the Disposal upon the receipt by
Zhongzhi Capital of each relevant instalment of the
Proceeds realised from the Disposal; and (ii) in event
that Zhongzhi Capital does not receive any instalment
from the Disposal for any reason, the Company will
not be entitled to the relevant performance fee.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, ZZCF was
entitled to a performance fee of approximately
HK$229,804,000 (2019: nil) in relation to Zhongzhi
Capital's disposal of investments managed by ZZCF in
accordance with the IAM Agreement and the Side
Letter.

A management fee of HK$495,000 (2019: nil) was
recognised by ZZCF during the year ended 31 March
2018 based on the IAM Agreement for management

services on remaining portfolio after the Disposal.

ZZCF will be entitled to higher of (a) management fee;
or (b) performance fee, but not both.

The IAM Agreement was expired on 31 March 2018.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

On 13 March 2017, a subsidiary of the Company,
ZZCF entered into a supplemental appointment letter
with a director of the subsidiary, Mr. Patrick Yeung.
Pursuant to the supplemental appointment letter, the
following services and obligations will be transferred:

i. Mr. Patrick Yeung shall reimburse ZZCF an
amount equivalent to any loss recorded by ZZCF
during the period from 1 January 2016 to 30
June 2017 based on the management accounts
as at 30 June 2017.

ii.  After 1 July 2017, ZZCF shall have the right to
require Mr. Patrick Yeung to acquire from ZZCF
any receivables of ZZCF which remains outstanding
as at 30 June 2017 and which has not been
recovered in full by ZZCF at net book value.

iii.  Mr. Patrick Yeung is authorized to determine
and allocate bonuses to be paid to the staff of
ZZCF in respect of the period from 1 January
2016 to 30 June 2017.

The above transactions were completed during the year
ended 31 March 2018. In particular, the transfer of
outstanding receivables of ZZCF resulted in a receipt of
approximately HK$1,260,000 during the year ended 31
March 2018.

On 22 May 2018, as described in note 16, the Alerian
Unit Purchase Agreement was terminated and the
Company entered into several ancillary transaction
agreements with Aretex Capital, and ACP Index
Partners Holdings LLC, an investment vehicle managed
and controlled by Aretex Capital. Aretex Capital and
its affiliates were indirectly controlled by the then
directors and key management personnel of the
subsidiaries of the Company as at 22 May 2018 but
ceased to be directors of the subsidiaries of the
Company or the Group as at 31 March 2019.
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(b)
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i BEELEAEBRTEERCER
BEHEEN2016F1/1BE
20176 A30 i AR & &
TCEMEZENIMNEBEZEE
(IRIEMN2017F6 A30B 2&
BRE) -

i. 20179F7A18%: > PEELRD
EREREERGEELERT
BEATEBERENR2017F6
B30RMALS  BHAREEF
BEACEREREDFETH
WEIMEAFEE AL EME R
W FRIA o

i. GEESTAEREETROER
201651 A1HZE2017%6 A 30
HEARZES N THEERDER
BB ITHITEAL ©

i SREE2018F3 A31BHILF
E5EK ° FRlE - 812201843 A 31
AILFE #ZFEERADEREZ
RIEEEUGIARE A 471,260,000 7T
FIABRSRIA ©

201845 A 228 + tAMfzE 16 it -
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel,

33. BELRF (&)

d FBEBAB(BERAKEHITESRK

including executive directors and key management of FEEEE)NF
the Group:
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Short-term employee benefits RHERERERF 15,742 44,549
Retirement benefit scheme RRRE R B
contributions 15 35
Total compensation paid to key ONTFEEEAEH e
management personnel 15,757 44,584

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:

BERESHESHE - THRBRENES
BITEHRRPIRED ©

34. KATNEENBAAFE

BREARAEEEZWE R RFFEHIIMN
T

Place of Paid up issued/ Percentage of
incorporation registered equity attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
&L B XL BrERT/
A1 REEhE =L AR A ARREERR LA TEEK
Direct Indirect
B A&
2019%F 20185 2019%F 2018%
% % % %

ZICF Hong Kong HK$10,141,140 — = 100 100  Provision of corporate
advisory and
investment advisory
services

hEEALRRE 0 10,141,140 87T RELRBERRRE
ERR%
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 34. ARFNEERB QAT @

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Paid up issued/ Percentage of
incorporation registered equity attributable
Name and operations capital to the Company Principal activities
AR BrERfT/
Ea REEHE LR AR A ARREERR LA TEXR
Direct Indirect
B CF:3
2019F 20185 2019%F 2018
% % % %

ZZC| Credit Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - - 100 100  Provision of corporate
advisory services and
money lending

HEEAEERRAA Bt 10787T R R BRI RE R
RigE

ZZCl Corporate Services Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100 100  Provision of corporate

Limited services and money
lending
TEERCERBREERLR BE BT RECERBREE
77 Capital International Israel NIS1 - - 100 100 Provision of investment
(Israel) Limited Ltd. advisory services

7Z Capital International el 133 @ RAR B PR
(Israel) Limited Ltd.

77 Capital International UK GBP1 - = 100 100 Provision of investment
(UK) Limited advisory services

77 Capital International B 1588 R E B RS
(UK) Limited

77 Capital International USA - - - 100 100  Provision of investment
(US) LLCMNete) advisory services

77 Capital International e RAIR B BRI PR
(US) LLC (&)

RYATE L RRERE The PRC US$400,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding
EEEBEARRA
(Asian Capital (Qianhai)
Investment Management
Limited*)

AL TREREES TE 400,000 % 7T REER
ERER AR

*  For identification purpose only
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34. KRATNETEWE R AFE @)

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

According to the operating agreements, the member may transfers funds or
assets to these companies from time to time as a capital contribution but no

capital contributions will be required from the member otherwise required by

law.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of the year.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

BELEDH  BRRATHAZERANERESHEE
ERTE  BRERSEREN

BRBATE -

MEARBERFRETEMEEES -

35. AD A 2 BARRK K

2019 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITB A RIRNIEE 22,810 22,809
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note) FELURRE B A B 28 (B13E) 677,981 836,065
Other assets and receivables (Note) HE & EE L pE U B (faE) 414 286
Bank balances and cash (Note) RITHEBNIRS (BE) 4,342 35,119
Total current assets MENEEBEE 682,737 871,470
Current liability =R
Other payables and accruals HitEN BN ETER 365 311
Net current assets REEEFE 682,372 871,159
Net assets EERE 705,182 893,968
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of the RAGEA AR
Company
Share capital f& = 35,505 35,505
Reserves EE 669,677 858,463
Total equity REZSHAER 705,182 893,968
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. XA B 2B BT R R HE @)
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Note: Wik
ECL for amounts due from subsidiaries, other assets and receivables and bank FERHBAT HWEEREWHIEARBITESRRIR
balances and cash are assessed on a 12m ECL basis as there had been no SHTEHREEEBIZ 2@ ATEHEEBBEERETIE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and impairment FERZ B YRR A KA E R b 3 4 28 2 12 00 K2R (8 &
allowance is considered to be insignificant. BEREATREK -
Movement in the Company'’s reserves INNT 2 EREE
Retained
profits
Share Contributed (accumulated
premium surplus loss) Total
RE T
B EE BABRE (REHE#R) st
HK$'000 HK3$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#T TET TET TET
(Note) (Note)
(%) (Ht:z)
At 1 April 2017 M2017F4F818 705,977 19,000 104,070 829,047
Profit and total comprehensive 4 3 7 & 2 E YA
income for the year 1A%E - - 29,416 29,416
At 31 March 2018 MN2018F3AH31H 705,977 19,000 133,486 858,463
Loss and total comprehensive & XEB R 2 HER
loss for the year ] - - (188,786) (188,786)
At 31 March 2019 20193 H31H 705,977 19,000 (55,300) 669,677
Note: The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair Bist : ANATIRIEARIER E AR E A UREE Y KT
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the BATIRMD A ERBBFIETBMEEITH
reorganisation prior to the Listing, over the nominal value of the NN TS EE A EREE o

Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.
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T AR BB (RS )

2018/19%F  2017/184%F  2016/17 % 20154 20144
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEr FET FEx
RESULTS E3
Revenue WA 3,935 246,447 213,695 164,252 24,937
Net investment (loss) income BE (BB WA FE (84,992) 6,275 1) 132 (2,478)
Interest income from bank REBITHERZFE
deposit A 9,009 1,022 2,789 4,077 1,696
Other (losses) gains Hit (B518) Wi (24,945) 2,318 (96) 150 261
Revenue and other (loss) income U A 2 E4b (E548) Ug A (96,993) 256,062 216,367 168,611 24,416
Operating expenses RS (186,903)  (229,240)  (148,495) (42,728) (26,532)
(Loss) profit before tax A AT (E18) A (283,896) 26,822 67,872 125,883 (2,116)
Income tax (expense) credit FEf ()R (813) (6,020) 11,310 (13,210) 785
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)RF (284,709) 20,802 79,182 112,673 (1,331)
(Loss) earnings per share KA RIEA AEE
attributable to owners of the Bk (5E) &F
Company
— Basic (HK cents) — EARE) (8.02) 0.59 2.23 4.50 (0.09)
— Diluted (HK cents) — #55 (81) (8.02) 0.59 2.23 4.44 (0.09)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES XEREMR
As at 31
As at 31 March December
R3A31H MW12H31H
20194 20184 20174 20164 20144
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FEr FET F&Er
Total assets BEE 714,884 1,010,575 1,020,138 922,616 136,800
Total liabilities BwafE (9,702) (20,161) (47,895) (29,555) (6,374)
705,182 990,414 972,243 893,061 130,426
Equity attributable to owners of "2 BB AE(L
the Company i 705,182 990,414 972,243 893,061 130,426
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